
 
 

City of Baldwin City 
PO Box 68 

Baldwin City, Kansas 66006 
Council Meeting Agenda 

 

Baldwin City Public Library  
800 7th Street  
Baldwin City, KS 66006 

MONDAY 
December 5, 2016  

7:00 PM 

 
 

 

 
A.  Call to Order- Mayor Marilyn Pearse  
 
B.  Consent Agenda 

1. Consider the Draft Minutes of the 11.21.2016 Regular Meeting 
2. Douglas County Corrections Facility Agreement  
3. CMB/Tobacco license renewals: 

a. Pizza Hut, CMB on premise 
b. KWIK Shop, CMB off premise 
c. Baldwin City Market, tobacco 
d. KWIK Shop, tobacco 
e. Dollar General Store, tobacco 
f. Dance Cafe, drinking establishment 

 
 
 
C.  Public Comment: 
Members of the public are welcome to comment on items relating to City business not listed on this 
Agenda. Please stand and wait to be recognized by the Mayor. As a general practice, the comments may 
or may not be acted upon by the Council during the meeting, or Council may refer the items to staff for 
follow up. 
If you wish to comment on an item listed on the Agenda, a  sign-up sheet  is provided for you to sign in and 
provide your address. You will be called on when the Agenda item of interest is under discussion by the 
Council. 
 
D.   Special Reports or Presentations 
 
E.   Old Business 

1. Ordinance 1357, amending Ordinance 1247 Zoning text 



 
 

City of Baldwin City 
PO Box 68 

Baldwin City, Kansas 66006 
Council Meeting Agenda 

 

Baldwin City Public Library  
800 7th Street  
Baldwin City, KS 66006 

MONDAY 
December 5, 2016  

7:00 PM 

 
 

 

2. Ordinance 1356, repealing Ordinance 1293, Council meeting date and time 
3. Resolution 2016-22, General Obligation Temporary Notes, Series 2017-A 

 
F.   New Business 

1. Resolution 2016- 21, Regional Pedestrian Plan 
 
G.  Committee and/or Commission Reports 

1. Budget and Finance/Kathy Gerstner, David Simmons 
2. Community Development Committee/Steve Bauer, Tony Brown 
3. Public Health and Safety Committee/David Simmons, Kathy Gerstner 
4. Public Works Committee/Christi Darnell, Steve Bauer 
5. Utilities Committee/ Tony Brown, Christi Darnell  

 
H.  City Administrator and Staff comments 

1. Financial Reports 
 
I.   Council & Mayor Comments 
 
J.   Executive Session 
 
K.  Adjourn 

 
 
 



  City of Baldwin City 
Minutes from the November 21, 2016 

 Regular Council Meeting 
 

The Baldwin City Council met in Regular Session at 7:00 p.m. at the Baldwin City Public  
Library, 800 7th Street, with Mayor Marilyn Pearse presiding. 
Present were Council Members: Kathy Gerstner, Tony Brown, Steve Bauer, David Simmons, Glenn 
Rodden-City Administrator, Laura Hartman-City Clerk. Also attending were Ed Courton, Chris Croucher, 
Brad Smith, Kenny Oshel and Robert Moffitt.  Christi Darnell was absent. 
A. Call to Order:  

Mayor Pearse called the regular council meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
B. Consent Agenda:  
Kathy Gerstner moved and David Simmons seconded to approve the consent agenda as presented. Motion 
carried with a vote of 4 yes and 0 no. 
Matt Hoy, City Attorney arrived at 7:04 p.m. 
C. Public Comments – Josh Ediger, 1621 N 1st Street, thanked the Council for the work they do. Josh 

talked about the issues with the road that runs in front of their home. Josh asked for a legal statement 
saying North 1st Street is not a city street. Steve asked if staff could get the legal descriptions of the 
street. 

 
D. Special Reports or Presentations- none given 
 
E. Old Business  
City Council Meeting Time – Council brought back to the table discussion about the time Council 
meetings would take place for 2017. Kathy suggested the 1st and 3rd Tuesdays of the month at 7:00 p.m. 
Council had discussion and agreed to have staff draw up an ordinance.  
F. New Business 
Ordinance 1357, Amending Ordinance 1247-  Ed Courton said City staff and the Planning Commission 

are proposing several zoning text amendments.  On November 8, 2016, the Planning Commission 

recommended approval of all four (4) of the zoning text amendments.  Ed added there is one section to be 

excluded, 26-108 (1) (c). The ordinance will be updated and brought back for Council action at the next 

regular Council meeting. 

  

Mural Grant Application: This application is from Jeannette Blackmar on behalf of the Baldwin City 

Tourism Bureau and the Chamber of Commerce.  The applicant is seeking matching funds of $3,000 to 

design and paint a mural at 608 High Street.  The Community Development Committee met last week and 

is recommending approval. Jeannette Blackmar showed Council member a video about mural projects. 



Kathy Gerstner thanked Jeannette for her work with this and stated it is “stinking exciting”. The Mayor 

also agreed, this is a wonderful project.  David asked if this was a community grant and if they had those 

funds.  Jeannette said, not yet but are working on the process.  Having the financial support from the City 

will give a strong statement to the grant committee.  

Kathy Gerstner moved and David Simmons to approve the mural grant application from the City Tourism 

Bureau and the Chamber of Commerce. Motion carried with a vote of 4 yes and 0 no. 

Financial Advisor Agreement:  Brad explained this agreement continues the relationship with Springsted. 

Staff recommends that council approve this agreement with Springsted.  

Tony Brown moved and Kathy Gerstner seconded to approve and authorize Brad Smith, Finance Director 
to sign the Financial Advisor Agreement with Springsted Financial Advisors. Motion carried with a vote 
of 4 yes and 0 no. 
 

G. Committee Reports: 

Budget and Finance- Kathy Gerstner –  No report. 

Community Development Committee- Steve Bauer said the committee had discussion about the sign East 
of town and the Neighborhood Revitalization Program. The committee talked about allowing rebates for 
taxes for people if they make certain improvements to their property. Steve said a decision should be 
made fairly soon so we are not keeping builders from coming in to build because they are waiting on the 
NRP to get started. Steve asked if someone came in next week, would we be willing to make it retroactive 
so they could take advantage of the program.  Ed said we certainly could put in the language to address 
this situation should it come forward. David asked if the committee is meeting again and added he had 
talked to realtors, bankers and builders. He said the new barrier is the down payment on new construction. 
The committee will take David’s suggestion to the next meeting for discussion.  

Public Health and Safety Committee- David said the meeting was rescheduled for Tuesday, November 
29th at City Hall. 

Public Works Committee- Steve Bauer said the 1st street issue needs to go to the township, that the City 
cannot do anything legally with that street.  

Utilities Committee- Tony Brown –  no report 

 

H. City Administrator and Staff Comments 

Chris Croucher said the first round of meter upgrades have been taken care of except three. One more 
letter would be sent out and then they would be shut off.  Mayor asked if they have contacted City Hall. 



Chris said they have not called or come by City Hall to this date. Chris wanted to give Council members a 
heads up should they get calls.  Steve thanked Chris for his due diligence and patience with patrons. 

Ed said the downtown façade program has been very successful and asked if Council would extend to the 
corridor. Council agreed this would be a great idea.  Ed will review the current program and update to 
reflect the change. 

Glenn announced Bill Winegar was not in attendance because he became a grandpa today. 

I. Council & Mayor Comments -  Steve Bauer will not be at the next meeting in December and the first 
meeting in January. Steve also commented how nice the old KWIK Shop area looks and wanted to 
bring that to Council attention. 

 

J. Adjourn  

Kathy Gerstner moved and Steve Bauer seconded to adjourn the regular meeting.   Motion carried with a 
vote of 4 yes and 0 no. Time 8:37 p.m. 
 
Approved by the governing board on ___________________________, 2016.  

 

Attest: 

 

______________________________   

Laura E. Hartman, City Clerk 

















ORDINANCE NO. 1357  
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ZONING ORDINANCE #1247 OF THE CITY OF 
BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS AND AS SET FORTH IN CHAPTER 16 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS, BY AMENDING 
SECTIONS 1-104 (87), 25-103 (1) (A), 25-103 (8), CITY OF BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS, 
DOUGLAS COUNTY, KANSAS 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS, THAT: 
 
 
 
 
SECTION 1 
 
Zoning Ordinance #1247 of the City of Baldwin City, Kansas, and as set forth in Chapter 16 of 
the Municipal Code of the City of Baldwin City, Kansas be and the same is hereby amended as 
follows: 
 
Section 1-104 (87) is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced by the following text: 
 
 “Any dwelling occupied by not more than twelve (12) persons, which the 

dwelling is licensed by a regulatory agency of the State of Kansas.  For purposes 
of this definition, disability shall mean:  
a. Disability: A condition, with respect to a person, which means: 

1. A physical or mental impairment which substantially limits one or more of 
such person’s major life activities; 

2. A record of having such an impairment; or 
3. Being regarded as having such an impairment. 
 

Section 25-103 (1) (A) is hereby deleted in its entirety. 
 
 
SECTION 2 
 
Zoning Ordinance #1247 of the City of Baldwin City, Kansas, and as set forth in Chapter 16 of 
the Municipal Code City of the City of Baldwin City, Kansas be and the same is hereby amended 
as follows: 
 
Section 25-103 (8) is hereby added to include the following paragraph:   
 

“On corner lots, one of the two front yard setback distances may be reduced by 
one-half the required distance of the underlying zoning district.  The Community 
Development Director shall make the determination, which of the two front yard 
setback distances may be reduced.”   

 
 



 
 
 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED by the Governing Body of the City of Baldwin City on this 
_____ day of ______, 2016 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Marilyn Pearse, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Laura E. Hartman, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
Approved as to Form:  ____________________________ 
                                    Matt Hoy, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
ORDINANCE NO. 1356 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE SETTING THE TIME AND DATE OF CITY COUNCIL 
MEETINGS AND REPEALING ORDINANCE NO. 1293. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF BALDWIN CITY, 
KANSAS: 
 
 SECTION I. Section 1-203(a) of the Code of the City of Baldwin City is hereby amended to 
read as follows: 
 

SAME: MEETINGS. (a) Regular meetings of the council shall be held on the first and 
third Tuesday of each month at 7:00 p.m. In the event the regular meeting date shall fall 
on a legal holiday or any day observed as a holiday by the city offices, the council shall fix 
the succeeding day, not observed as a holiday, as a meeting date. 

  
 SECTION II.  Ordinance No. 1293 passed by the governing body on March 18, 2013 is hereby 
repealed. 
 
 SECTION III. This ordinance shall become effective at the first regular city council 
meeting of January, 2017. 
 
 PASSED by the Governing Body of the City of Baldwin City, Kansas, on this _____ day of 
___________________, 2016. 
 
 
     APPROVED: 
 
 
 
     _______________________________ 
     Marilyn Pearse, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Laura E. Hartman, City Clerk 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Matt Hoy, City Attorney 



 



 

City of Baldwin City, Kansas 
Recommendations for Issuance of Notes 

 

$2,900,000 General Obligation Temporary Notes, 2017-A 

The Council/Board has under consideration the issuance of temporary notes to finance the design and construction 
of a new public utilities building.  This document provides information relative to the proposed issuance. 

KEY EVENTS: The following summary schedule includes the timing of some of the key events that will 
occur relative to the note issuance. 
 

December 5, 2016 Council sets sale date and terms 

Week of January 16, 2017 Rating conference is conducted  

February 6, 2017, 10:00 a.m. Competitive bids are received 

February 6, 2017, 7:00 p.m. Council considers award of the Notes 

March 2, 2017 Proceeds are received 

  

RATING: Applications will be made to S&P Global Ratings (S&P) for a rating on the Notes.  The City’s 
general obligation long-term debt is currently rated “AA-” by S&P.  The Notes are expected 
to receive a general obligation short-term rating of “SP-1+” by S&P. 

THE MARKET: Performance of the tax-exempt market is often measured by the Bond Buyer’s Index (“BBI”) 
which measures the yield of high grade municipal bonds in the 20th year for general 
obligation bonds (the BBI 20 Bond Index) and the 30th year for revenue bonds (the BBI 25 
Bond Index).  The following chart illustrates these two indices over the past five years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

S
tu

dy
 N

o.
: 1

10
84

.1
15

 

N
ov

em
be

r 
28

, 2
01

6 

D
at

e 



Page 2 

POST ISSUANCE 

COMPLIANCE: 

The issuance of the Notes will result in post-issuance compliance responsibilities.  The 
responsibilities are in two primary areas:  i) compliance with federal arbitrage requirements 
and ii) compliance with secondary disclosure requirements. 

Federal arbitrage requirements include a wide range of implications that have been taken 
into account as your issue has been structured.  Post-issuance compliance responsibilities 
for your tax-exempt issue include both rebate and yield restriction provisions of the IRS 
Code.  In very general terms the arbitrage requirements control the earnings on 
unexpended bond/note proceeds, including investment earnings, moneys held for debt 
service payments (which are considered to be proceeds under the IRS regulations), and/or 
reserves.  Since the City does not expect to issue more than $5 million in tax-exempt 
obligations in 2017, the City will qualify for the “small issuer” exemption from rebate.  
However, yield restriction provisions will apply to the debt service fund and any project 
proceeds unspent after three years under certain conditions and these funds should be 
monitored throughout the life of each issue 

Secondary disclosure requirements result from an SEC requirement that underwriters 
provide ongoing disclosure information to investors.  To meet this requirement, any 
prospective underwriter will require them to commit to providing the information needed to 
comply under a continuing disclosure agreement.   

Springsted currently provides both arbitrage and continuing disclosure services to the City.  
This issue will be added to the City’s outstanding issues for compliance purposes under 
the existing Agreement for Municipal Services. 

SUPPLEMENTAL 

INFORMATION AND  

BOND RECORD: 
 

Supplementary information will be available to staff including detailed terms and conditions 
of sale, comprehensive structuring schedules and information to assist in meeting post-
issuance compliance responsibilities. 

Upon completion of the financing, a bond record will be provided that contains pertinent 
documents and final debt service calculations for the transaction. 

PURPOSE/PLAN OF 

FINANCE: 

Proceeds of the Notes will finance the design and construction of a new public utilities 
building on land owned by the City (“Project”).  The Project will house administration and 
operations of the City’s water, sewer and electric utilities.  The total Project cost is 
estimated at $2,800,000 for the sizing of the Notes.   

Prior to Mach 1, 2019 the City expects to issue either general obligation bonds or lease 
revenue bonds (through the City’s Public Building Commission) to provide long-term 
financing for the Project.  The City intends to use net revenues of its water, sewer and 
electric utilities to make the debt service payments on the long-term financing. 

AUTHORITY: Statutory Authority:  The Notes are being issued pursuant to and in full compliance with 
the Constitution and statutes of the State, including K.S.A. 10-101 to 10-125, 

inclusive; Charter Ordinance No. 19, Section 5(c) of Article 12 of the Constitution of the 
State of Kansas, and K.S.A. 12-101 et seq, as amended and supplemented from time to 
time (the "Act"), and a resolution adopted by the City Council on February 6, 2017. 

 

 

 



Page 3 

SECURITY AND 

SOURCE OF 
PAYMENT: 

The Notes will be general obligations of the City payable as to both principal and interest 
from the issuance of general obligation bonds, and if not so paid, from ad valorem taxes 
which may be levied without limitation as to rate or amount upon all the taxable tangible 
property, real and personal, within the territorial limits of the City.  The full faith, credit and 
resources of the City are irrevocably pledged for the prompt payment of the principal of and 
interest on the Notes as the same become due.   

Capitalized interest included in the principal amount of the Notes will make the interest 
payments due through September 1, 2018. 

STRUCTURING 
SUMMARY: 

The Notes will mature on March 1, 2019. 

SCHEDULES 

ATTACHED: 

Schedules attached for the Notes include sources and uses of funds and a debt service 
schedule. 

RISKS/SPECIAL 
CONSIDERATIONS: 

The outcome of this financing will rely on the market conditions at the time of the sale.  Any 
projections included herein are estimates based on current market conditions. 

SALE TERMS AND 
MARKETING: 

Variability of Issue Size:  A specific provision in the sale terms permits modifications to the 
issue size and/or maturity structure to customize the issue once the price and interest rates 
are set on the day of sale. 

Prepayment Provisions:  The City may elect to prepay the Notes on or after March 1, 2018 

at a price of par plus accrued interest.  

Bank Qualification: The City does not expect to issue more than $10 million in tax-exempt 

obligations that count against the $10 million limit for this calendar year; therefore, the 

Notes are designated as bank qualified.  

Premium Bidding: Any excess proceeds generated as original issue premium and/or 

unused discount will be used to reduce the principal amount of the borrowing. 

 



Page 4 

 

 

 

   

$2,900,000 

City of Baldwin, Kansas 
General Obligation Temporary Notes, Series 2017-A 

(Public Utilities Building) 

Sources & Uses 

 Dated 03/02/2017 |  Delivered 03/02/2017

Sources Of Funds 

Par Amount of Bonds.....................................................................................................................................................................................$2,900,000.00

 
Total Sources...........................................................................................................................................................................................$2,900,000.00

 
Uses Of Funds 

Deposit to Project Construction Fund....................................................................................................................................................................2,800,000.00

Deposit to Capitalized Interest (CIF) Fund..............................................................................................................................................................56,445.28

Costs of Issuance.......................................................................................................................................................................................26,648.00

Total Underw riter's Discount  (0.500%)..................................................................................................................................................................14,500.00

Rounding Amount.........................................................................................................................................................................................2,406.72

 
Total Uses..............................................................................................................................................................................................$2,900,000.00

2017 GO Temp  No tes  2016 -1  |  S INGLE PUR POSE  |  11/22 /2016   |  1:14  PM



Page 5 

 

   

$2,900,000 

City of Baldwin, Kansas 
General Obligation Temporary Notes, Series 2017-A 

(Public Utilities Building) 

NET DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE 

Date Principal Coupon Interest Total P+I CIF Net New D/S

09/01/2017 - - 18,745.28 18,745.28 (18,745.28) -

03/01/2018 - - 18,850.00 18,850.00 (18,850.00) -

09/01/2018 - - 18,850.00 18,850.00 (18,850.00) -

03/01/2019 2,900,000.00 1.300% 18,850.00 2,918,850.00 - 2,918,850.00

Total $2,900,000.00 - $75,295.28 $2,975,295.28 (56,445.28) $2,918,850.00

SIGNIFICANT DATES 

 
Dated Date..............................................................................................................................................................................................3/02/2017

Delivery Date...........................................................................................................................................................................................3/02/2017

First Coupon Date.......................................................................................................................................................................................9/01/2017

 
Yield Statistics 

 
Bond Year Dollars.......................................................................................................................................................................................$5,791.94

Average Life............................................................................................................................................................................................1.997 Years

Average Coupon..........................................................................................................................................................................................1.3000000%

 
Net Interest Cost (NIC).................................................................................................................................................................................1.5503477%

True Interest Cost (TIC)................................................................................................................................................................................1.5552351%

Bond Yield for Arbitrage Purposes.......................................................................................................................................................................1.3000059%

All Inclusive Cost (AIC)................................................................................................................................................................................2.0285291%

 
IRS Form 8038 

Net Interest Cost.......................................................................................................................................................................................1.3000000%

Weighted Average Maturity...............................................................................................................................................................................1.997 Years

2017 GO Temp  No tes  2016 -1  |  S INGLE PUR POSE  |  11/22 /2016   |  1:14  PM



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-22 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE OFFERING FOR SALE OF GENERAL 
OBLIGATION TEMPORARY NOTES, SERIES 2017-A, OF THE CITY OF 
BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS. 
 
 

 WHEREAS, the City of Baldwin City, Kansas (the “Issuer”), has heretofore authorized certain 
internal improvements described as follows (the “Improvements”): 

 
Project Description 

 
Res. No. 

 
Authority 

Authorized 
Bond Amount 

Public Utilities Building 2016-18 

Charter Ordinance No. 19, Section 
5(c) of Article 12 of the 
Constitution of the State of 
Kansas, and K.S.A. 12-101 et seq. $3,200,000 

 
 WHEREAS, the governing body of the Issuer is authorized by law to issue general obligation 
bonds to pay the costs of the Improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is necessary for the Issuer to provide cash funds (from time to time) to meet its 
obligations incurred in constructing the Improvements prior to the completion thereof and the issuance of the 
Issuer's general obligation bonds, and it is desirable and in the interest of the Issuer that such funds be raised 
by the issuance of temporary notes of the Issuer; and 
 
 WHEREAS, no such general obligation bonds or temporary notes have been issued, and the Issuer 
proposes to issue its temporary notes to pay the costs of the Improvements; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the Issuer has selected the firm of Springsted Incorporated, St. Paul, Minnesota  
(“Municipal Advisor”), as financial advisor for one or more series of temporary notes of the Issuer in order 
to provide funds to temporarily finance the Improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to authorize the Municipal Advisor to proceed with the offering for 
sale of said temporary notes and related activities; and 
 
 WHEREAS, one of the duties and responsibilities of the Issuer is to prepare and distribute a 
preliminary official statement relating to said temporary notes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to authorize the Municipal Advisor and Gilmore & Bell, P.C., 
Wichita, Kansas, the Issuer’s bond counsel (“Bond Counsel”), in conjunction with the Finance Director, to 
proceed with the preparation and distribution of a preliminary official statement and notice of note sale and 
to authorize the distribution thereof and all other preliminary action necessary to sell said temporary notes. 
 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF 
BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS:  
 
 Section 1.  The Issuer is hereby authorized to offer at competitive public sale the Issuer’s General 
Obligation Temporary Notes, Series 2017-A (the “Notes”) as described in the Notice of Note Sale, which 
is hereby approved in substantially the form presented to the governing body this date.  All proposals for 
the purchase of the Notes shall be delivered to the governing body at its meeting to be held on the sale date 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
2 

referenced in the Notice of Note Sale, at which meeting the governing body shall review such bids and 
award of the sale of the Notes or reject all proposals. 
 
 Section 2.  The Municipal Advisor, in conjunction with the Finance Director and Bond Counsel, is 
hereby authorized to cause to be prepared a Preliminary Official Statement relating to the Notes.  The Issuer 
hereby consents to the use and distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement in connection with the 
offering for sale of the Notes. 
 
 Section 3.  For the purpose of enabling the purchaser of the Notes (the “Purchaser”) to comply with 
the requirements of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities Exchange Commission (the “Rule”), the Finance 
Director or appropriate officers of the Issuer are hereby authorized:  (a) to approve the form of said 
Preliminary Official Statement, and to execute the “Certificate Deeming Preliminary Official Statement 
Final” in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A as approval of the Preliminary Official 
Statement, such official's signature thereon being conclusive evidence of such official's and the Issuer's 
approval thereof; (b) covenant to provide continuous secondary market disclosure by annually transmitting 
certain financial information and operating data and other information necessary to comply with the Rule 
to certain national repositories and the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, as applicable; and (c) take 
such other actions or execute such other documents as such officers in their reasonable judgment deem 
necessary; to enable the Purchaser to comply with the requirement of the Rule. 
 
 Section 4.  The Issuer agrees to provide to the Purchaser within seven business days of the date of 
the sale of Notes or within sufficient time to accompany any confirmation that requests payment from any 
customer of the Purchaser, whichever is earlier, sufficient copies of the final Official Statement to enable 
the Purchaser to comply with the requirements of the Rule and with the requirements of Rule G-32 of the 
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 
 
 Section 5.  The Mayor, Finance Director, Clerk and the other officers and representatives of the 
Issuer, the Municipal Advisor and Bond Counsel are hereby authorized and directed to take such other 
action as may be necessary to carry out the sale of the Notes. 
 
 Section 6.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption. 
 
 

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
(Signature page to Sale Resolution) 

 ADOPTED by the governing body on December 5, 2016. 
 
 
 
(SEAL)             
        Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
      
  Clerk 
 
 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
2 

 



KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
 
 

         Gilmore & Bell, P.C. 
         11/28/2016 

 
 EXCERPT OF MINUTES OF A MEETING 
 OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF 
 THE CITY OF BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS 
 HELD ON DECEMBER 5, 2016 
 
 The governing body of the City met in regular session at the usual meeting place in the City, at 7:30 
p.m., the following members being present and participating, to-wit:  
 
 
 Absent:   
 
 The Mayor declared that a quorum was present and called the meeting to order. 
 
 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
 (Other Proceedings) 
 
 The matter of providing for the offering for sale of General Obligation Temporary Notes, Series 
2017-A, came on for consideration and was discussed. 
 
 Thereupon, there was presented a Resolution entitled: 
 
 RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE OFFERING FOR SALE OF GENERAL 

OBLIGATION TEMPORARY NOTES, SERIES 2017-A, OF THE CITY OF 
BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS. 

 
 Councilmember __________ moved that said Resolution be passed.  The motion was seconded by 
Councilmember __________.  Said Resolution was duly read and considered, and upon being put, the 
motion for the passage of said Resolution was carried by the vote of the governing body, the vote being as 
follows: 
 
 Aye:  ___________________________________________________________________. 
 
 Nay:  ___________________________________________________________________. 
 
 Thereupon, the Mayor declared said Resolution duly passed and the Resolution was then duly 
numbered Resolution No. 2016-____ and was approved and signed by the Mayor and attested by the Clerk. 
 
 
 

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
(Signature page to Excerpt of Minutes) 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
 (Other Proceedings) 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
CERTIFICATE 

 
 I hereby certify that the foregoing Excerpt of Minutes is a true and correct excerpt of the 
proceedings of the governing body of the City of Baldwin City, Kansas, held on the date stated therein, and 
that the official minutes of such proceedings are on file in my office. 
 
 
(SEAL)             
         Clerk 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
 

 
          Gilmore & Bell, P.C. 

          11/28/2016 
 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2016-22 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE OFFERING FOR SALE OF GENERAL 
OBLIGATION TEMPORARY NOTES, SERIES 2017-A, OF THE CITY OF 
BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS. 
 
 

 WHEREAS, the City of Baldwin City, Kansas (the “Issuer”), has heretofore authorized certain 
internal improvements described as follows (the “Improvements”): 

 
Project Description 

 
Res. No. 

 
Authority 

Authorized 
Bond Amount 

Public Utilities Building 2016-18 

Charter Ordinance No. 19, 
Section 5(c) of Article 12 of the 
Constitution of the State of 
Kansas, and K.S.A. 12-101 et seq. $3,200,000 

 
 WHEREAS, the governing body of the Issuer is authorized by law to issue general obligation 
bonds to pay the costs of the Improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is necessary for the Issuer to provide cash funds (from time to time) to meet its 
obligations incurred in constructing the Improvements prior to the completion thereof and the issuance of 
the Issuer's general obligation bonds, and it is desirable and in the interest of the Issuer that such funds be 
raised by the issuance of temporary notes of the Issuer; and 
 
 WHEREAS, no such general obligation bonds or temporary notes have been issued, and the 
Issuer proposes to issue its temporary notes to pay the costs of the Improvements; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the Issuer has selected the firm of Springsted Incorporated, St. Paul, Minnesota  
(“Municipal Advisor”), as financial advisor for one or more series of temporary notes of the Issuer in 
order to provide funds to temporarily finance the Improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to authorize the Municipal Advisor to proceed with the offering 
for sale of said temporary notes and related activities; and 
 
 WHEREAS, one of the duties and responsibilities of the Issuer is to prepare and distribute a 
preliminary official statement relating to said temporary notes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to authorize the Municipal Advisor and Gilmore & Bell, P.C., 
Wichita, Kansas, the Issuer’s bond counsel (“Bond Counsel”), in conjunction with the Finance Director, 
to proceed with the preparation and distribution of a preliminary official statement and notice of note sale 
and to authorize the distribution thereof and all other preliminary action necessary to sell said temporary 
notes. 
 
 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
2 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS:  
 
 Section 1.  The Issuer is hereby authorized to offer at competitive public sale the Issuer’s General 
Obligation Temporary Notes, Series 2017-A (the “Notes”) as described in the Notice of Note Sale, which 
is hereby approved in substantially the form presented to the governing body this date.  All proposals for 
the purchase of the Notes shall be delivered to the governing body at its meeting to be held on the sale 
date referenced in the Notice of Note Sale, at which meeting the governing body shall review such bids 
and award of the sale of the Notes or reject all proposals. 
 
 Section 2.  The Municipal Advisor, in conjunction with the Finance Director and Bond Counsel, 
is hereby authorized to cause to be prepared a Preliminary Official Statement relating to the Notes.  The 
Issuer hereby consents to the use and distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement in connection with 
the offering for sale of the Notes. 
 
 Section 3.  For the purpose of enabling the purchaser of the Notes (the “Purchaser”) to comply 
with the requirements of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities Exchange Commission (the “Rule”), the Finance 
Director or appropriate officers of the Issuer are hereby authorized:  (a) to approve the form of said 
Preliminary Official Statement, and to execute the “Certificate Deeming Preliminary Official Statement 
Final” in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A as approval of the Preliminary Official 
Statement, such official's signature thereon being conclusive evidence of such official's and the Issuer's 
approval thereof; (b) covenant to provide continuous secondary market disclosure by annually 
transmitting certain financial information and operating data and other information necessary to comply 
with the Rule to certain national repositories and the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, as 
applicable; and (c) take such other actions or execute such other documents as such officers in their 
reasonable judgment deem necessary; to enable the Purchaser to comply with the requirement of the Rule. 
 
 Section 4.  The Issuer agrees to provide to the Purchaser within seven business days of the date of 
the sale of Notes or within sufficient time to accompany any confirmation that requests payment from any 
customer of the Purchaser, whichever is earlier, sufficient copies of the final Official Statement to enable 
the Purchaser to comply with the requirements of the Rule and with the requirements of Rule G-32 of the 
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 
 
 Section 5.  The Mayor, Finance Director, Clerk and the other officers and representatives of the 
Issuer, the Municipal Advisor and Bond Counsel are hereby authorized and directed to take such other 
action as may be necessary to carry out the sale of the Notes. 
 
 Section 6.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption. 
 
 

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
(Signature page to Sale Resolution) 

 ADOPTED by the governing body on December 5, 2016. 
 
 
 
(SEAL)             
        Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
      
  Clerk 
 
 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
 

          Gilmore & Bell, P.C. 
          11/28/2016 

 
 

CERTIFICATE DEEMING 
PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT FINAL 

 
 
 
       January ____, 2017 
 
 
To:  
  
 
 
 Re: $2,900,000* City of Baldwin City, Kansas, General Obligation Temporary Notes, 

Series 2017-A 
 
 The undersigned is the duly acting Finance Director of the City of Baldwin City, Kansas (the 
“Issuer”), and is authorized to deliver this Certificate to the addressee (the “Purchaser”) on behalf of the 
Issuer.  The Issuer has heretofore caused to be delivered to the Purchaser copies of the Preliminary 
Official Statement (the “Preliminary Official Statement”), relating to the above-referenced notes (the 
“Notes”). 
 
 For the purpose of enabling the Purchaser to comply with the requirements of Rule 15c2-12(b)(1) 
of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Rule”), the Issuer hereby deems the information 
regarding the Issuer contained in the Preliminary Official Statement to be final as of its date, except for 
the omission of such information as is permitted by the Rule, such as offering prices, interest rates, selling 
compensation, aggregate principal amount, principal per maturity, delivery dates, ratings and other terms 
of the Notes depending on such matters. 
 
      CITY OF BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS 
 
 
 
      By:        
      Title: Finance Director 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 

Gilmore & Bell, P.C. 
11/28/2016 

 
NOTICE OF NOTE SALE 

 
$2,900,000* 

 
CITY OF BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS 

 
GENERAL OBLIGATION TEMPORARY NOTES 

SERIES 2017-A 
 
 

(GENERAL OBLIGATION NOTES PAYABLE 
FROM UNLIMITED AD VALOREM TAXES) 

 
 Bids.  Facsimile and electronic (as explained below) bids for the purchase of the above-
referenced notes (the “Notes”) of the City of Baldwin City, Kansas (the “Issuer”) herein described will be 
received by Springsted Incorporated, the Issuer’s Municipal Advisor (the “Municipal Advisor”) on behalf 
of the Director of Finance of the Issuer, in the case of facsimile bids, at the address hereinafter set forth, 
and in the case of electronic bids, via PARITY® until 10:00 A.M., Central Time (the “Submittal Hour”), 
on 
 

FEBRUARY 6, 2017 
 
(the “Sale Date”).  All bids will be evaluated at said time and place and the award of the Notes to the 
successful bidder (the “Successful Bidder”) will be acted upon immediately thereafter by the Director of 
Finance.  No oral or auction bids will be considered.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall 
have the meanings set forth in the hereinafter referenced Preliminary Official Statement relating to the 
Notes. 
 
 Terms of the Notes.  The Notes will consist of fully registered notes in the denomination of 
$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof (the “Authorized Denomination”).  The Notes will be dated March 
2, 2017 (the “Dated Date”), and will become due in principal installments, as follows: 
 

Stated 
Maturity 

Principal 
Amount* 

March 1, 2019 $2,900,000 
 
*subject to change 
 
 The Notes will bear interest from the Dated Date at rates to be determined when the Notes are 
sold as hereinafter provided, which interest will be payable semiannually on March 1 and September 1 in 
each year, beginning on September 1, 2017 (the “Interest Payment Dates”). 
 
 *Adjustment of Issue Size.  The Issuer reserves the right to increase or decrease the total 
principal amount of the Notes, depending on the purchase price and interest rates bid and the offering 
prices specified by the Successful Bidder.  The principal amount may be adjusted by the Issuer in order to 
properly size the Note issue based on the discount and interest rates bid on the Notes.  The Successful 
Bidder may not withdraw its bid or change the interest rates bid as a result of any changes made to the 
principal amount of the Notes as described herein.  If there is an increase or decrease in the final 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
2 

aggregate principal amount of the Notes, the Issuer will notify the Successful Bidder by means of 
telephone or facsimile transmission, subsequently confirmed in writing, no later than 2:00 p.m., central 
time, on the Sale Date.  The actual purchase price for the Notes shall be calculated by applying the 
percentage of par value bid by the Successful Bidder against the final aggregate principal amount of the 
Notes, as adjusted, plus accrued interest from the date of the Notes to the date of delivery, if any. 
 
 Place of Payment.  The principal of and interest on the Notes will be payable in lawful money of 
the United States of America by check or draft of the Treasurer of the State of Kansas, Topeka, Kansas 
(the “Paying Agent” and “Note Registrar”).  The principal of each Note will be payable at maturity or 
earlier redemption to the owners thereof whose names are on the registration books (the “Note Register”) 
of the Note Registrar (the “Registered Owner”) upon presentation and surrender at the principal office of 
the Paying Agent.  Interest on each Note will be payable to the Registered Owner of such Note as of the 
first day (whether or not a Business Day) of the calendar month of such Interest Payment Date (the 
“Record Date”):  (a) mailed by the Paying Agent to the address of such Registered Owner as shown on 
the Note Register or at such other address as is furnished to the Paying Agent in writing by such 
Registered Owner; or (b) in the case of an interest payment to Cede & Co. or any Registered Owner of 
$500,000 or more in aggregate principal amount of Notes, by wire transfer to such Registered Owner 
upon written notice given to the Paying Agent by such Registered Owner, not less than 15 days prior to 
the Record Date for such interest, containing the wire transfer address to which such Registered Owner 
wishes to have such wire directed. 
 
 Note Registration.  The Notes will be registered pursuant to a plan of registration approved by 
the Issuer and the Attorney General of the State of Kansas.  The Issuer will pay for the fees of the Note 
Registrar for registration and transfer of the Notes and will also pay for printing a reasonable supply of 
registered note blanks.  Any additional costs or fees that might be incurred in the secondary market, other 
than fees of the Note Registrar, will be the responsibility of the Registered Owners. 
 
 Book-Entry-Only System.  The Issuer is registered with The Depository Trust Company, New 
York (“DTC”) as a participant for book-entry-only transfers and pledges of securities deposited with 
DTC.  The Notes shall be initially registered in the name of Cede & Co., as the nominee of DTC and no 
beneficial owner will receive certificates representing their interests in the Notes.  During the term of the 
Notes, so long as the book-entry-only system is continued, the Issuer will make payments of principal of, 
premium, if any, and interest on the Notes to DTC or its nominee as the Registered Owner of the Notes, 
DTC will make book-entry-only transfers among its participants and receive and transmit payment of 
principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes to its participants who shall be responsible for 
transmitting payments to beneficial owners of the Notes in accordance with agreements between such 
participants and the beneficial owners.  The Issuer will not be responsible for maintaining, supervising or 
reviewing the records maintained by DTC, its participants or persons acting through such participants.  In 
the event that:  (a) DTC determines not to continue to act as securities depository for the Notes, or (b) the 
Issuer determines that continuation of the book-entry-only form of evidence and transfer of ownership of 
the Notes would adversely affect the interests of the beneficial owners of the Notes, the Issuer will 
discontinue the book-entry-only form of registration with DTC.  If the Issuer fails to identify another 
qualified securities depository to replace DTC, the Issuer will cause to be authenticated and delivered to 
the beneficial owners replacement Notes in the form of fully registered certificates.  Reference is made to 
the Preliminary Official Statement for further information regarding the book-entry-only system of 
registration of the Notes and DTC. 
 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
3 

 Redemption of Notes Prior to Maturity. 
 
 Optional Redemption.  At the option of the Issuer, the Notes will be subject to redemption and 
payment prior to maturity on March 1, 2018, and thereafter, as a whole or in part (selection of the amount 
of Notes to be redeemed to be determined by the Issuer in such equitable manner as it may determine) at 
any time, at the redemption price of 100% (expressed as a percentage of the principal amount), plus 
accrued interest to the date of redemption. 
 
 Notice and Effect of Call for Redemption.  Unless waived by any owner of Notes to be 
redeemed, if the Issuer shall call any Notes for redemption and payment prior to the maturity thereof, the 
Issuer shall give written notice of its intention to call and pay said Notes to the Note Registrar and the 
Successful Bidder.  In addition, the Issuer shall cause the Note Registrar to give written notice of 
redemption to the registered owners of said Notes.  Each of said written notices shall be deposited in 
United States first class mail not less than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption.  All notices of 
redemption shall state the date of redemption, the redemption price, the Notes to be redeemed, the place 
of surrender of Notes so called for redemption and a statement of the effect of the redemption.  The Issuer 
shall also give such additional notice as may be required by Kansas law or regulation of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission in effect as of the date of such notice.  If any Note be called for redemption and 
payment as aforesaid, all interest on such Note shall cease from and after the date for which such call is 
made, provided funds are available for its payment at the price hereinbefore specified. 
 
 Authority, Purpose and Security.  The Notes are being issued pursuant Charter Ordinance No. 
19 of the Issuer (enacted pursuant to the provisions of Section 5(c) of Article 12 of the Constitution of the 
State of Kansas) and K.S.A. 12-101 et seq., all as amended, and a resolution adopted by the governing 
body of the Issuer (the “Note Resolution”) for the purpose of paying a portion of the cost of public utility 
building improvements (the “Improvements”).  The Notes shall be general obligations of the Issuer 
payable as to both principal and interest from the proceeds of general obligation bonds of the Issuer, and 
if not so paid, from ad valorem taxes which may be levied without limitation as to rate or amount upon all 
the taxable tangible property, real and personal, within the territorial limits of the Issuer.  The full faith, 
credit and resources of the Issuer are irrevocably pledged for the prompt payment of the principal and 
interest on the Notes as the same become due. 
 
 Submission of Bids.  Facsimile bids must be made on forms which may be procured from the 
Municipal Advisor and shall be addressed to the undersigned, and marked “Proposal for General 
Obligation Temporary Notes, Series 2017-A.”  Written bids submitted by facsimile should not be 
preceded by a cover sheet and should be sent only once to the number set forth below.  Confirmation of 
receipt of facsimile bids may be made by contacting the Municipal Advisor at the number listed below.  
Electronic bids via PARITY® must be submitted in accordance with its Rules of Participation, as well as 
the provisions of this Notice of Note Sale.  If provisions of this Notice of Note Sale conflict with those of 
PARITY®, this Notice of Note Sale shall control.  Bids must be received prior to the Submittal Hour on 
the Sale Date.  Neither the Issuer nor the Municipal Advisor shall be responsible for any failure, 
misdirection or error in the means of transmission selected by any bidder. 
 
 PARITY®.  Information about the electronic bidding services of PARITY® may be obtained from 
i-Deal LLC at 1359 Broadway, 2nd Floor, New York, New York  10018, Phone No. (212) 849-5023. 
 
 Conditions of Bids.  Proposals will be received on the Notes bearing such rate or rates of interest 
as may be specified by the bidders, subject to the following conditions:  (a) the same rate shall apply to all 
Notes of the same maturity year; (b) no interest rate may exceed a rate equal to the daily yield for the 10-
year Treasury Bond published by THE BOND BUYER, in New York, New York, on the Monday next 
preceding the day on which the Notes are sold, plus 6%; (c) the interest rate specified shall be in multiple 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
4 

of 1/8 or 1/100 of 1%; (d) no bid shall be for less than 99.5% of the principal amount of the Notes and 
accrued interest thereon to the date of delivery will be considered; and (e) no supplemental interest 
payments will be considered.  Each bid shall specify the total interest cost (expressed in dollars) during 
the term of the Notes on the basis of such bid, the discount, if any, and the premium, if any, offered by the 
bidder, the net interest cost (expressed in dollars) on the basis of such bid and the TIC (as hereinafter 
defined) on the basis of such bid.  Each bidder shall certify to the Issuer the correctness of the 
information contained on the Official Bid Form.  The Issuer will be entitled to rely on such 
certification.  Each bidder agrees that, if it is awarded the Notes, it will provide the certification as to 
initial offering prices described under the caption “Reoffering Prices” in this Notice. 
 
 Basis of Award.  The award of the Notes will be made on the basis of the lowest true interest 
cost (“TIC”), which will be determined as follows:  the TIC is the discount rate (expressed as a per annum 
percentage rate) which, when used in computing the present value of all payments of principal and 
interest to be paid on the Notes, from the payment dates to the Dated Date, produces an amount equal to 
the price bid, including any adjustments for premium or discount, if any.  Present value will be computed 
on the basis of semiannual compounding and a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.  Bidders are 
requested to supply an estimate of the TIC for the Notes on the Official Bid Form, computed as specified 
herein on the basis of their respective bids, which shall be considered as informative only and not binding 
on either the bidder or the Issuer.  The Issuer or its Municipal Advisor will verify the TIC based on such 
bids. If there is any discrepancy between the TIC specified and the bid price and interest rates specified, 
the specified bid price and interest rates shall govern and the TIC specified in the bid shall be adjusted 
accordingly.  If two or more proper bids providing for identical amounts for the lowest TIC are received, 
the governing body of the Issuer will determine which bid, if any, will be accepted, and its determination 
is final. 
 

The Issuer reserves the right to reject any and/or all bids and to waive any irregularities in a 
submitted bid.  Any disputes arising hereunder shall be governed by the laws of Kansas, and any party 
submitting a bid agrees to be subject to jurisdiction and venue of the federal and state courts within 
Kansas with regard to such dispute.  Any bid received after the Submittal Hour on the Sale Date will be 
returned to the bidder. 
 
 Ratings.  The outstanding general obligation bonds of the Issuer are rated “AA-” by S&P Global 
Ratings (formerly Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services), a division of McGraw Hill Financial Inc.  The 
Issuer has applied to S&P Global Ratings for a rating on the Notes herein offered for sale.  Such 
application and ratings are further described in the Preliminary Official Statement, hereinafter described. 
 
 CUSIP Numbers.  CUSIP identification numbers will be assigned and printed on the Notes, but 
neither the failure to print such number on any Note nor any error with respect thereto shall constitute 
cause for failure or refusal by the purchaser thereof to accept delivery of and pay for the Notes in 
accordance with the terms of this Notice.  All expenses in relation to the assignment and printing of 
CUSIP numbers on the Notes will be paid by the Issuer. 
 
 Delivery and Payment.  The Issuer will pay for printing the Notes and will deliver the Notes 
properly prepared, executed and registered without cost on or about MARCH 2, 2017, at DTC for the 
account of the Successful Bidder.  The Successful Bidder will be furnished with a certified transcript of 
the proceedings evidencing the authorization and issuance of the Notes and the usual closing documents, 
including a certificate that there is no litigation pending or threatened at the time of delivery of the Notes 
affecting their validity and a certificate regarding the completeness and accuracy of the Preliminary 
Official Statement.  Payment for the Notes shall be made in federal reserve funds, immediately available 
for use by the Issuer.  The Issuer will deliver one Note registered in the nominee name of DTC. 
 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
5 

 Reoffering Prices.  To provide the Issuer with information necessary for compliance with 
Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), the Successful Bidder will 
be required to complete, execute and deliver to the Issuer prior to the delivery of the Notes, a written 
certification (the “Issue Price Certificate”) containing the following:  (a) the initial offering price and 
interest rate of the Notes; (b) that all of the Notes were offered to the public in a bona fide public offering 
at the initial offering prices on the Sale Date; and (c) on the Sale Date the Successful Bidder reasonably 
expected that at least 10% of the Notes would be sold to the “public” at prices not higher than the initial 
offering prices.  For purposes of the preceding sentence “public” means persons other than bond houses, 
brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers.  
However, such Issue Price Certificate may indicate that the Successful Bidder has purchased the Notes for 
its own account in a capacity other than as an underwriter or wholesaler, and currently has no intent to 
reoffer the Notes for sale the public.   
 
 Subsequent to the Submittal Hour, such initial offering prices to the public shall be provided to 
the Municipal Advisor not more than 20 minutes after requested by the Issuer or the Municipal 
Advisor. 
 
 At the request of the Issuer, the Successful Bidder will provide information explaining the factual 
basis for the Successful Bidder’s Issue Price Certificate.  This agreement by the Successful Bidder to 
provide such information will continue to apply after the Closing Time if:  (a) the Issuer requests the 
information in connection with an audit or inquiry by the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) or the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) or (b) the information is required to be retained by the 
Issuer pursuant to future regulation or similar guidance from the IRS, the SEC or other federal or state 
regulatory authority. 
 
 Preliminary Official Statement and Official Statement.  The Issuer has prepared a Preliminary 
Official Statement dated January ___, 2017, “deemed final” by the Issuer except for the omission of 
certain information as provided in Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12, copies of which 
may be obtained from the Municipal Advisor.  Upon the sale of the Notes, the Issuer will adopt the final 
Official Statement and will furnish the Successful Bidder, without cost, within seven business days of the 
acceptance of the Successful Bidder's proposal, with a sufficient number of copies thereof, which may be 
in electronic format, in order to comply with the requirements of Rule 15c2-12(3) and (4) of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission and Rule G-32 of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (collectively 
the “Rules”).  Additional copies may be ordered by the Successful Bidder at its expense.  The Issuer's 
acceptance, including electronic acceptance through PARITY®, of the Successful Bidder's proposal for 
the purchase of the Notes in accordance with this Notice of Note Sale shall constitute a contract between 
the Issuer and the Successful Bidder for purposes of the Rules. 
 
 Continuing Disclosure.  The Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) has promulgated 
amendments to its Rule 15c2-12 (the “Rule”) requiring continuous secondary market disclosure for 
certain issues.  In the Note Resolution, the Issuer has covenanted to provide annually certain financial 
information and operating data and other information necessary to comply with the Rule, and to transmit 
the same to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.  This covenant is for the benefit of and is 
enforceable by any Registered Owner of the Notes.  For further information, reference is made to the 
caption “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” in the Preliminary Official Statement. 
 
 Assessed Valuation and Indebtedness.  Reference is made to the Preliminary Official Statement 
regarding the property valuations and outstanding general obligation indebtedness of the Issuer. 
 
 Legal Opinion.  The Notes will be sold subject to the approving legal opinion of GILMORE & 
BELL, P.C., WICHITA, KANSAS, Bond Counsel to the Issuer, which opinion will be furnished and paid 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
6 

for by the Issuer, will be printed on the Notes, if the Notes are printed, and will be delivered to the 
Successful Bidder when the Notes are delivered.  Said opinion will also include the opinion of Bond 
Counsel relating to the interest on the Notes being excludable from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes and exempt from income taxation by the State of Kansas.  Reference is made to the Preliminary 
Official Statement for further discussion of federal and Kansas income tax matters relating to the interest 
on the Notes. 
 
 Additional Information.  Additional information regarding the Notes may be obtained from the 
persons set forth below. 
 
 DATED:  December 5, 2016. 
 
       CITY OF BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS 
       By Bradford Smith, Finance Director 
 
Written Bid Delivery Address: 
 
 803 Eighth St., P.O. Box 86 

Baldwin City, Kansas 66006 
 Phone No.:  (785) 594-6427 
 Fax No.:  (785) 594-6586 
 Email:  bsmith@baldwincity.org  
 
 
Municipal Advisor and Facsimile Bid Delivery Address: 
 

Springsted Incorporated, Attn: Bond Services 
380 Jackson Street, Suite 300 
St. Paul, Minnesota  55101-2887 
Phone No.:  (651) 223-3000 
Fax No.:  (651) 223-3046 
Email:  bond_services@springsted.com 

 



 

KMC\600998.70067\SALEDOCS 
7 

OFFICIAL BID FORM 
PROPOSAL FOR THE PURCHASE OF CITY OF BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS 

GENERAL OBLIGATION TEMPORARY NOTES 
SERIES 2017-A 

 
TO: Laura Hartman, Clerk February 6, 2017 
 City of Baldwin City, Kansas 
 
 For $2,900,000* principal amount of General Obligation Temporary Notes, Series 2017-A, of the City of 
Baldwin City, Kansas, to be dated March 2, 2017, as described in your Notice of Note Sale dated December 5, 2016, 
said Notes to bear interest as follows: 
 

Stated 
Maturity 

Principal 
Amount* 

Interest 
Rate 

March 1, 2019 $2,900,000* ______% 
 
*subject to change; see Notice of Note Sale 
 
the undersigned will pay the purchase price for the Notes set forth below, plus accrued interest to the date of 
delivery. 
 
 Principal Amount  ..............................................................................................................................................$2,900,000* 
 Less Discount (not to exceed 0.5% or $14,500) ...................................................................... -______________________ 
 Plus Premium (if any)  ...............................................................................................................______________________ 
 Total Purchase Price  ..............................................................................................................$_______________________ 
 Total interest cost to maturity at the rates specified  ..............................................................$_______________________ 
 Net interest cost (adjusted for Discount and/or Premium) .....................................................$_______________________ 
 True Interest Cost  ...................................................................................................................................... ____________% 
 
 This proposal is subject to all terms and conditions contained in said Notice of Note Sale, and if the 
undersigned is the Successful Bidder, the undersigned will comply with all of the provisions contained in said 
Notice.  The acceptance of this proposal by the Issuer shall constitute a contract between the Issuer and the 
Successful Bidder for purposes of complying with Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
 
       Submitted by:        
 
(LIST ACCOUNT MEMBERS ON REVERSE)   By:        
       Telephone No.  (          )     
 

ACCEPTANCE 
 
 Pursuant to action duly taken by the Governing Body of the City of Baldwin City, Kansas, the above 
proposal is hereby accepted on February 6, 2017. 
 
Attest: 
 
              
  Clerk        Mayor 
 
NOTE: No additions or alterations in the above proposal form shall be made, and any erasures may cause rejection of any bid.  
Sealed bids and facsimile bids may be filed with Springsted Incorporated, Fax No. (651) 223-3046 or electronic bids may be 
submitted via PARITY®, at or prior to 10:00 A.M., Central Time, on February 6, 2017.  Any bid received after such time will not 
be accepted or shall be returned to the bidder. 
 

 



 

 
 

Memorandum 
TO: Baldwin City Council  
FROM: Jessica Mortinger, Senior Transportation Planner 

Ashley Myers, Transportation Planner 
Date: November 22, 2016 
Re:  Regional Pedestrian Plan 
 
The Lawrence-Douglas County Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) Policy Board approved 
the Regional Pedestrian Plan at their October 5, 2016 meeting. The Regional Pedestrian Plan 
represents a vision of a more accessible and safer pedestrian environment in the region. This is 
the first Pedestrian Plan for the City of Baldwin City and other communities in Douglas County. 
Through a public participation process that included surveys, mobile meetings, and website 
feedback, residents of Baldwin City, Lawrence, Eudora, and Lecompton expressed a desire for 
pedestrian friendly communities. These communities should encourage people of all ages and 
abilities to walk for enjoyment, exercise, and daily transportation by providing a safe, convenient, 
and attractive pedestrian environment. 
 
This Plan considers the many benefits of walking and identifies a diverse set of approaches 
encouraging more pedestrian activity. This Plan presents a toolbox of policy, program, and 
infrastructure ideas that cities in Douglas County can implement to improve the pedestrian 
environment. 
 
Implementation of the plan’s policies, programs and built environment recommendations will have 
fiscal impact to the City. The impact will be determined based on the level of implementation. 
Accepting the plan does not commit the City Council to funding implementation.  
 
The Regional Pedestrian Plan is available at https://lawrenceks.org/mpo/pedplan  



 85 

 

Baldwin City 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Background 
 

Home to 4,500 residents and Baker University, Baldwin City began 
as a stop on the historic Santa Fe Trail.  Rich railroad history and the 
popular Maple Leaf Festival have brought visitors from across the 
area to enjoy a comfortable stroll down its quiet brick streets. 
Located a half hour from Lawrence and less than an hour from 
Kansas City, Baldwin City residents can take advantage of nearby 
metropolitan areas while maintaining small‐town charm.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table of Contents 

Existing Infrastructure      86 

Funding            89 

Policy and Program 
Recommendations        90 

Infrastructure Recommendations  92 

Conclusion          95 

 

Baldwin City 

Baldwin City 

D
ou

gl
as
 C
ou

nt
y 

DRAFT



 

86  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Existing Pedestrian Infrastructure ‐ Baldwin City 
 

In 2014, MPO staff walked and/or drove all sidewalks within the city 
and recorded defects as they encountered them. Staff inventoried 
the sidewalks for the following defects: 

          Vertical deflections <1”     Manholes     
          Vertical deflections >1”     Missing sidewalk 
          Horizontal gaps  Gaps 
          Tree roots     No ADA ramp exists 
          Cross slope  ADA ramp compliant 
          Brick resets  ADA ramp non‐compliant 
 
A map of this inventory can be found in Figure 4.1, and photo 
examples of defects can be found in Appendix A.  
 
Findings 
 
Maintenance 

Maintenance includes the repair of existing sidewalk defects as well 
as replacing missing panels within a continuous sidewalk. The cost 
to repair existing sidewalk defects throughout Baldwin City is 
estimated at $175,830. This estimated cost assumes 5’ width and $6 
per square foot. Estimates do not include ancillary costs such as tree 
removal or utility relocation. Further maintenance information can 
be found in Table 4.1, and Figure 4.1 shows the location of defects 
throughout town. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 4.1: Baldwin City Sidewalk Defects  
(2014 Sidewalk Inventory) 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

DRAFT



 87 

 

Baldwin City 

 

 

 

 

 

Ramps 

The inventory identified 132 ADA compliant ramps, 88 which were 
not ADA complaint, and 630 locations where no ramp exists. The 
average cost to construct an ADA compliant ramp is $800. The 
estimated cost to install or repair ramps on existing sidewalks is 
$574,400. This estimate does not include ramps to be added to 
newly constructed sidewalk where no sidewalk currently exists.  
Complete ramp information can be found in Table 4.2. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Table 4.1 : Baldwin City Sidewalk Defects (2014)  Figure 4.2: Baldwin City ADA Ramps 
(2014 Sidewalk Inventory) 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

Table 4.2: Baldwin City ADA Ramps (Sidewalk Inventory 2014) DRAFT



 

88  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Missing Sidewalk 

Baldwin City has 256,599 linear feet of missing sidewalk. The 
estimated cost for installing sidewalk on both sides of every street is 
$7.7 million. These estimates do not include the previously discussed 
costs of ramp construction or maintenance to existing sidewalks. A 
map of missing sidewalks is shown in Figure 4.3.   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Figure 4.3: Baldwin City Missing Sidewalk Segments 
(2014 Sidewalk Inventory) 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

DRAFT



 89 

 

Baldwin City 

Funding for Pedestrian Infrastructure in         
Baldwin City 

 
Sidewalk Maintenance 
The current city code for sidewalk maintenance states that “it shall 
be the duty of the owner of the abutting property to keep the 
sidewalk in repair, but the city may, after giving 15 days’ notice to 
the owner”, make all necessary repairs and assess the cost to the 
property taxes of the abutting owner1.  

This sidewalk maintenance policy requires regular city inspection 
and notification to ensure compliance. The current condition  of 
sidewalks, as shown in Figures 4.1 and 4.2, suggests that the existing 
policy is not creating a compliant sidewalk network. If the City of 
Baldwin City determines that enforcement of this policy is not 
feasible, alternative programs or ordinances should be explored. 

Alternative Sidewalk Maintenance Programs 

Alternatives to the current policy could be to have the City of 
Baldwin City take over maintenance responsibilities or develop a 
cost‐sharing model where property owners and the City each pay a 
certain amount to maintain or build sidewalks. To generate revenue 
for this policy change, the city could increase sales tax or property 
tax. Table 4.3 demonstrates how much funding could be generated 
from different levels of taxes.  

 

 

 
 
 

New Sidewalk Construction and Other Infrastructure 
Improvements 
 
In addition to sidewalk maintenance and repair, a quality pedestrian 
system also relies on new improvements that enhance the 
pedestrian network. Currently, construction of new pedestrian 
infrastructure are funded out of the City’s General Fund, but in some 
cases, the City is able to obtain grant funding through KDOT or 
foundations. Recent pedestrian capital improvement projects 
include the shared use path leading from 11th Street to Baldwin 
Elementary School and a shared use path connecting the train depot 
to Women’s Bridge Park.  

Improving the sidewalk infrastructure through these methods leads 
to  sporadic improvements with little continuity. The Infrastructure 
Implementation Scenarios located at the end of this chapter identify 
a few ways to prioritize the construction of new pedestrian 
infrastructure.  

 
 
 
 

Table 4.3: Baldwin City Funding Generation by Tax Type 

1 http://baldwincity.citycode.net/index.html#!articleSidewalks 

DRAFT



 

90  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

Encourage Pedestrian Trips 
Through Participation in 

National Walk to School Day 
and Other Strategies 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Health 

Teachers can encourage students to walk to school, and encouragement on a broader scale could 
empower pedestrians of all ages. The City, in coordination with the school district, could 
participate in National Walk to School Day, a global event that involves communities from over 40 
countries walking and biking to school on the same day. City‐provided maps of walking routes, 
wayfinding signs, and programs driven by employer incentives are options for Baldwin City to 
consider.  

 
Consider Applying for Safe 
Routes to School (SRTS) 

Program Funding 

Focus areas addressed: Safety, Health 
 
The City of Baldwin City could benefit from identifying safe walking routes for children to reach 
one of the 4 schools in town as well as education and encouragement programs to empower 
more pedestrian trips from home to school. 

 

Adopt Design Standards and 
Policies that Result in 
Pedestrian‐Friendly 

Development 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

The Pedestrian Progress Toolbox on pages 14‐19 contains site design guidelines, engineering 
standards, and policies that can lead to a safe and comfortable pedestrian environment. Baldwin 
City could benefit from adopting guidelines to ensure the pedestrian network is built thoughtfully. 
Early adoption of standards and policies on setbacks, block length, and sidewalk maintenance are 
a few ways Baldwin City can help to prevent the need to retrofit street and sidewalk connections 
at a later date, and often a higher cost. Many other standard and policy ideas can be found in the 
toolbox on pages 14‐19. 

Po
lic
ie
s 
an

d 
Pr
og

ra
m
s 

Recommendations 

DRAFT



 91 

 

Baldwin City 

 

Use Traffic Calming Devices to 
Improve Pedestrian Safety and 
Comfort at Locations with Real 

and Perceived Risk 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Safety 

Traffic calming devices should be installed to improve pedestrian safety and comfort at 
historical crash locations as well as locations of perceived risk that deter pedestrians from 
walking in the area, such as Church Street north and south of K‐10. Pedestrians in crashes 
with motor vehicles traveling at a speed of 31 mph face a 50% risk of injury and nearly 25% risk 
of death. Traffic calming should be installed in response to high crash locations, but also 
proactively to improve pedestrian safety and comfort in locations that may currently 
discourage pedestrian activity.  

 

Track and Measure Progress of 
Lawrence’s Pedestrian 
Network, Amenities and 

Programming 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

It is important to understand the type, magnitude, and location of pedestrian improvements 
that are being implemented each year. The City should track miles of sidewalk construction 
and sidewalk gap infill, sidewalk maintenance, shared‐use path construction, installation of 
other pedestrian amenities, and results of education, encouragement, and enforcement 
campaigns. Tracking cost, location, and program data for pedestrian improvements  will 
demonstrate the progress Lawrence is making on the pedestrian environment and where 
more work still needs to be done to further address the region’s focus areas.  

Po
lic
ie
s 
an

d 
Pr
og

ra
m
s 

Recommendations 

DRAFT



 

92  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Target Resources to the  
Priority Network 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Connectivity 

Target resources to priority pedestrian corridors that provide the most people with access to the 
most parts of town, particularly to schools, grocery stores, and other landmark destinations. The 
Priority Network can be found in Figure 3.5. Cost estimates for installing sidewalk on at least one 
side of every street along the Priority Network can be found in Table 4.4. Funding should be 
prioritized to complete these routes first, creating continuous, quality pedestrian facilities.  

Through community outreach and an online survey in April 2016, Baldwin City residents identified a 
few key locations as priorities.  Several respondents identified Highway 56 as a barrier that 
discouraged walking because of limited crossings and high vehicle speed, especially for those living 
North of the highway attempting to access the main core of the city. Preliminary plans for a 
reconstruction of Highway 56 from Eisenhower to 1st Street indicate new sidewalk installation on 
both sides of the street. Additional crossing improvements were not identified with this project at 
the time of publication of this plan. Many respondents spoke of the isolation felt by pocket 
communities on the north, southwest, and east sides of town. School routes, State Lake Road 
leading to Douglas State Lake, 11th Street, and improved East/West connectivity were also 
mentioned as potential priorities.  

Certain segments of identified SRTS routes may overlap or differ from the Priority Network. These 
two methods for prioritizing routes need not be mutually exclusive, as the City could pursue 
completion of both concurrently.  

Recommendations 
In
fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 

Table 4.4: Baldwin City Priority Network Estimated Costs 

DRAFT



 93 

 

Baldwin City 

 
 
 
 

 
Figure 4.4: Baldwin City Priority Network 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, 
merchantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the 
requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of 
the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular 
purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including 
the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and 
update. 

DRAFT



 

94  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

 

Pursue Shared Use Path 
Connection to the Prairie 

Spirit Trail 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Connectivity 

The Prairie Spirit Trail is a 52‐mile shared use path for pedestrians and bicyclists running along an 
old railway that currently connects Ottawa to Humboldt. The Midland Railroad runs southwest out 
of Baldwin City to Ottawa and terminates near the trailhead for the Prairie Spirit Trail. Figure 4.5 
shows the alignment of this railroad. 

Work is currently being done by the Baldwin City Economic Development Corporation to obtain the 
necessary easement from the Midland Railroad to accommodate a shared use pedestrian and 
bicycle path. The EDC is also working to identify funding for the construction of the trail along the 
20‐mile route. This plan recommends continued efforts to establish this connection, greatly 
improving connectivity for pedestrians in the region.  

Recommendations 
In
fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 

DRAFT



 95 

 

Baldwin City 

 

 
 
 

Baldwin City Conclusion 
 

Pedestrian improvements in Baldwin City currently occur as the as 
roadways are repaired and constructed, and grants are sometimes 
identified to fund standalone projects. This leads to a fragmented 
network with no clear goal or system‐wide vision.  

The recommendations in this document aim to focus investment in 
pedestrian infrastructure so that the network is less fragmented. 
These recommendations are not mutually exclusive and can be 
implemented incrementally as funding becomes available. City 
officials should consider using tools found in the Pedestrian Progress 
Toolbox section on pages 14—19 to achieve one or more of these 
recommendations.  

The Pedestrian Plan is an important document because it enables 
city staff to make consistent decisions that affect the pedestrian 
realm in a positive way. It sets the stage for policy discussion 
regarding sidewalk requirements, helps protect streets with 
developed pedestrian infrastructure, and prioritizes streets with 
underdeveloped pedestrian infrastructure for upgrades. This Plan 
will be incorporated into the regional long‐range transportation 
plan, T2040, during the update in 2017. 

While funding is limited, yearly improvements help improve the 
system by bringing existing facilities into compliance with current 
standards, and providing programming, education, and policy 
changes that can lead to more people choosing to walk. The 
ultimate goal is to have a complete citywide system of quality 
pedestrian infrastructure paired with policies and programs that 
encourage more people to walk. Measured progress towards this 
will continue to support overall walkability and economic 
development opportunities throughout  Baldwin City. 

Baldwin City 

Ottawa 

Figure 4.5: Prairie Spirit Trail Connection 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

Midland 
Railroad 

Midland 
Railroad 

DRAFT



 

96  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

This page intentionally left blank 

DRAFT



Douglas County  

Regional Pedestrian Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Approved by the MPO Policy Board:  October 5, 2016 

Accepted by the Lawrence City Commission:  November 15, 2016 



 

2  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Table of contents 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Regional Overview 
Executive Summary        4 
Introduction          6 
Vison & Focus Areas        7 
Benefits of Walking        8 
5 E’s of Pedestrian Planning    10 
Current Plans and Policy Context  11 
Pedestrian Progress Toolbox    14 
Public Outreach        20 
Survey Analysis         22 
Regional Crash Analysis      28 
Funding            37 
Data Collection/Evaluation    38 
Conclusion          39 

Recommendations 
Lawrence          41 
Eudora           73 
Baldwin City         85 
Lecompton          97 

 

D
ou

gl
as
 C
ou

nt
y 

Lawrence  Eudora 

Baldwin City 

Lecompton 



 

 3 Regional Overview 



 

4  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Plan represents a vision of a more accessible and safer pedestrian 
environment in the region. This is the first Regional Pedestrian Plan 
developed by the Lawrence‐Douglas County Metropolitan Planning 
Organization (MPO). Through a public participation process that 
included surveys, mobile meetings, and website feedback, residents 
of Douglas County expressed a desire for pedestrian friendly 
communities. These communities should encourage people of all ages 
and abilities to walk for enjoyment, exercise, and daily transportation 
by providing a safe, convenient, and attractive pedestrian 
environment.  

This Plan considers the many benefits of walking and identifies a 
diverse set of approaches encouraging more pedestrian activity. This 
Plan presents a toolbox of policy, program, and infrastructure ideas 
that cities in Douglas County can implement to improve the 
pedestrian environment. While there may be overlap, the needs of 
Lawrence, Eudora, Baldwin City and Lecompton vary in population, 
available funding, and local priorities. This plan offers assessments 
and unique recommendations for each city within Douglas County.  

Recommendations for each city are as follows: 

Executive Summary	



 

 5 Regional Overview 

City‐Specific Recommendations	 

Lawrence 

 Implement the Safe Routes to School Program 
 Use Traffic Calming Devices to Improve Pedestrian Safety and 

Comfort at Locations with Real and Perceived Risk 
 Implement a Traffic Safety Campaign (Education & Enforcement) 
 Encourage Pedestrian Trips through Wayfinding Signage and an 

Open Streets Event 
 Reduce Block Length Standards in Subdivision Design 

Regulations 
 Form or Assign Responsibilities to an Advisory Committee 
 Apply for Walk Friendly Community Status 
 Track and Measure Progress of Infrastructure, Amenities, and 

Programming 
 Enforce Current Sidewalk Repair Policy or Establish New 

Sidewalk Repair Program 
 Establish Dedicated Funding Source for Pedestrian 

Improvements 
 Coordinate with University Staffs on Pedestrian Policy and 

Infrastructure Plans 
 Target Resources to the Priority Network 
 Target Resources to Non‐Existing and Non‐Compliant ADA 

Ramps 
 Target Resources to High‐Demand Transit Corridors 

 

 

 

Eudora 

 Continue to Seek Funding for Safe Routes to School Program 
 Encourage Pedestrian Trips Through Participation in National 

Walk to School Day and Other Strategies 
 Use Traffic Calming Devices to Improve Pedestrian Safety and 

Comfort at Locations with Real and Perceived Risk 
 Track and Measure Progress of Infrastructure, Amenities, and 

Programming 
 Target Resources to the Priority Network 

Baldwin City 

 Encourage Pedestrian Trips Through Participation in National 
Walk to School Day and Other Strategies 

 Consider Applying for Safe Routes to School Program Funding 
 Use Traffic Calming Devices to Improve Pedestrian Safety and 

Comfort at Locations with Real and Perceived Risk 
 Track and Measure Progress of Infrastructure, Amenities, and 

Programming 
 Target Resources to the Priority Network 

Lecompton 
 Encourage Pedestrian Trips Through Participation in National 

Walk to School Day and Other Strategies 
 Target Resources to the Historic Loop 
 Target Resources to the Grand Loop 
 School Crossing Improvements 



 

6  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Introduction 
Over the last five years, we have heard the desire for improvements to our pedestrian environment and culture. 
Residents have a vision for increased pedestrian friendliness along and across our roadways, bikeways, and trails. This 
vision and focus areas support what the community has asked for through the comprehensive regional transportation 
plan, Transportation 2040 (T2040)1, Multimodal Studies2 and other ongoing planning processes.  

The Douglas County Regional Pedestrian Plan aims to help guide the planning of our diverse communities so that they 
develop into places where people are allowed the choice to get to their destinations on foot.  

Since the adoption of Transportation 2040 (T2040) in 2013, the MPO staff has encouraged the Lawrence‐Douglas County 
planning staff to give additional consideration to pedestrian mobility during planning processes. To ensure that all 
modes of transportation are given the same opportunity for safe, convenient, and enjoyable travel, an overarching 
pedestrian plan should be woven into roadway design, road network planning, trail development, and maintenance of 
infrastructure.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1 Transportation 2040: Moving Forward Together.  http://lawrenceks.org/mpo/t2040 
2 Multimodal Planning Studies. http://lawrenceks.org/mpo/study 



 

 7 Regional Overview 

Vision 
 

The residents of Lawrence, Eudora, Baldwin 
City and Lecompton envision communities that 
invite people of all ages and abilities to walk 
for enjoyment, exercise, and daily 
transportation by providing a safe, 
convenient, and attractive pedestrian 
environment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Focus Areas 
Each city within the region will have unique policy, program, and 
infrastructure recommendations addressing the following Focus 
Areas. Pages 14‐19 can be thought of as a toolbox that each 
community can use to feasibly improve its pedestrian environment. 

 

Safety: Improve safety by reducing the number and severity of 
crashes through infrastructure design along and across roadways, 
and by promoting safe driving, walking, and bicycling behaviors 
through education and enforcement. 

Equity: Provide accessible pedestrian facilities for all users through 
public engagement, accessible design, and capital investments. 

Health: Develop a pedestrian network that promotes active 
lifestyles and sustains a healthy environment. 

Economy: Enhance economic vibrancy by creating safe and 
aesthetically pleasing walking environments with easy connections 
to commercial centers and front doors of businesses. 

Connectivity: Plan and build pedestrian infrastructure creating a 
network to connect neighborhoods to employment, retail, 
community services, schools, and recreational & cultural amenities. 

Multimodal Connections: Develop pedestrian facilities that provide 
opportunities to access other modes of transportation (transit, 
bicycling, carpooling, or vanpooling). 

Land Use and Design: Employ land use planning and site design 
requirements that encourage pedestrian travel by making local trips 
easier and more pleasant by foot than by car. 

 
 



 

8  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Benefits of Walking 
 

Quality pedestrian environments can positively impact much more 
than the individuals who are walking. While health and access may 
be improved for pedestrians only, reduced congestion, economic 
gains, and improved air quality can benefit everyone in the city. 
Cities within Douglas County could take advantage of a number of 
the following benefits with enhanced pedestrian facilities.  

 
Health and Wellness 
 
 Only half of adults and one quarter of high school students get 

the amount of physical activity recommended in national 
guidelines.1 

 Regular walking can help prevent or manage various conditions, 
including heart disease, high blood pressure, and type 2 
diabetes.2 

 Older non‐drivers take 65% fewer social, family, and religious 
trips than older people who still drive. However, 30% of older 
non‐drivers walk in dense areas, compared to 7% in more spread 
out areas.3 

 

 

 
Reduced Congestion 
 
 In 2010, road congestion caused 4.8 billion hours of travel delay, 

wasted 1.9 billion gallons of fuel, and resulted in total congestion 
costs of $115 billion in 439 U.S. urban areas.4 

 60% of trips under 1 mile are made by automobile.5 
 
Improved Economy 
 
 In 2011, driving a newer sedan cost an average of $8,946 per year 

and driving an SUV cost $11,360 per year.6 
 Improved walking environments have been correlated to 

increased retail sales. While automobile drivers tend to spend 
more per trip, pedestrians shop more frequently and spend 
more per capita over a month or a year.7 

 Neighborhood streets built in a grid to serve all users reduce the 
need for wide automobile lanes and complex intersections, and 
can lower infrastructure costs 35‐40% compared to conventional 
suburban development.8 

 
 
 
 

1 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Step It Up! The Surgeon General’s Call to Action to Promote Walking and Walkable Communities. Washington, DC: U.S. Dept of Health and Human Services, Office of the 
Surgeon General; 2015. http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/calls/walking‐and‐walkable‐communities/call‐to‐action‐walking‐and‐walkable‐communites.pdf  

2 Mayo Clinic staff (2015, March 19). Walking: Trim your waistline, improve your health. Retrieved June 13, 2016, from http://www.mayoclinic.org/healthy‐lifestyle/fitness/in‐depth/walking/art‐20046261  
3 Surface Transportation Policy Institute. Aging Americans: Stranded Without Options Fact Sheet. 2012. www.transact.org/library/reports_html/seniors/fact_sheet.asp  
4 Texas Transportation Institute. Urban Mobility Information. Traffic Problems Tied to the Economy, Study Says. Texas A&M University. 2011. http://mobility.tamu.edu/ums/media‐information/press‐release/  
5 U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration. (2009). Summary of travel trends: National household transportation survey. Retrieved January 22, 2016, from http://nhts.ornl.gov/2009/pub/stt.pdf.  
6 AAA. Cost of Owning and Operating Vehicle in U.S. Increased 1.9% According to AAA’s 2012 ‘Your Driving Costs’ Study. 2012. http://newsroom.aaa.com/2012/04/cost‐of‐owning‐and‐operating‐vehicle‐in‐u‐s‐increased‐1‐9‐

percent‐according‐to‐aaa%E2%80%99s‐2012‐%E2%80%98your‐driving‐costs%E2%80%99‐study/  
7 Transportation Alternatives and Schaller Consulting. Curbing Cars: Shopping, Parking and Pedestrian Space in SoHo. 2006. www.transalt.org/files/newsroom/reports/soho_curbing_cars.pdf  
8 Costs. (2016). Retrieved July 13, 2016, from http://www.smartgrowthamerica.org/complete‐streets/implementation/factsheets/costs  



 

 9 Regional Overview 

Improved Air Quality 
 A leading cause of air pollution in many urban regions is 

household vehicle travel.9 
 In 2014, transportation accounted for approximately 26% of 

total U.S. greenhouse gas emissions.10 
 The more people who walk instead of drive, the less pollution is 

emitted from automobiles. Automobile pollution contributes to 
ground‐level ozone which can lead to shortness of breath and 
asthma.11 

Equity and Access for All 
 One‐third of all Americans are not able to drive, either because 

they are too old, too young, too poor, or have some form of 
disability.12 

 1 in 20 (5.3%) Douglas County residents do not have access to a 
vehicle.13 

 More than 50% of Americans 65 and older who do not drive stay 
home on a given day because they lack transportation options.14 

 Safe non‐motorized transportation options, combined with 
access to public transportation, are critical components of a 
transportation network that connects people—especially low‐
income households—with jobs, education, and essential 
services, providing “ladders of opportunity.”15 

 

 

 

 

The US DOT Policy Statement on Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Accommodation Regulations and Recommendations states, 
"Walking and bicycling foster safer, more livable, family‐friendly 
communities; promote physical activity and health; and reduce 
vehicle emissions and fuel use." In this context, non‐motorized 
transportation types are equal with other transportation modes. 
The Douglas County Regional Pedestrian Plan recognizes these 
benefits and strives to address pedestrian needs in Lawrence, 
Eudora, Baldwin City, and Lecompton.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 Frank, L. D., Stone, B., & Bachman, W. (2000). Linking land use with household vehicle emissions in the central Puget Sound: Methodological framework and findings. Transportation Research D, 5(3).  
10 Sources of Greenhouse Gas Emissions. (2016, August 9). Retrieved August 22, 2016, from https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/sources‐greenhouse‐gas‐emissions  
11 Bell, M. L., McDermott, A., Zeger, S., Samet, J. M., & Dominici, F. (2004). Ozone and short‐term mortality in 95 U.S. urban communities, 1987‐2000. New England Journal of Medicine, 292 (19). 
12 Rails to Trails Conservancy. Active Transportation for America: A Case for Increased Federal Investment in Bicycling and Walking. Published 1/1/2008. http://www.railstotrails.org/resource‐library/resources/active
‐transportation‐for‐america/ 

13 U.S. Census Bureau, 2010‐2014 American Community Survey 2014 5‐Year Estimates, Table B25044.  
14 Surface Transportation Policy Institute. Aging Americans: Stranded Without Options Fact Sheet. 2012. www.transact.org/library/reports_html/seniors/fact_sheet.asp  
15Safer People, Safer Streets: Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Initiative. (2015, October 28). Retrieved July 13, 2016, from https://www.transportation.gov/safer‐people‐safer‐streets  

 



 

10  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

5 E’s of Pedestrian Planning 
 

Engineering 
Engineering refers to physical infrastructure. Engineering 
recommendations are typically divided into short‐term, medium‐
term and long‐term priorities based on cost, ease of 
implementation, and other factors. Recommendations may include: 

 Sidewalks, shared‐use paths, and trails 
 Directional and way‐finding signage 
 Pedestrian bridges and tunnels 
 Improvements to crosswalks 
 Curb ramps compliance with ADA guidelines 
 Bulb‐outs 
 Landscaping 
 Traffic calming – volume/speed causing yielding 
 Signals and other traffic controls 
 

Education 
Education efforts typically focus on educating people about the 
rules of the road. Motorist education typically focuses on reminding 
motorists of the rules of the road and how to properly interact with 
pedestrians. Education efforts may include: 

 Pedestrian education 
 Driver education 
 Public Service Announcements (PSAs) 
 Workshops for planners, engineers, and law enforcement 

officials 
 Signage 
 

 

 

Encouragement 
Encouragement activities focus on increasing walking through fun 
and interesting activities. Encouragement activities may include: 

 Walk to School Day 
 Workplace wellness programs 
 Walking route maps or way‐finding signage 
 Open streets  
 Walking clubs 
 Fitbit or pedometer giveaways 
  

Enforcement 
Enforcement activities focus on enforcing the rules of the road for 
all users ‐ motorists, bicyclists, pedestrians and transit users. 
Enforcement activities may include: 

 Efforts to reduce speeding through holding all users responsible 
for following the rules of the road 

 Efforts to increase yielding to pedestrians 
 Crossing guards 
 
Evaluation 
Evaluation efforts seek to quantify the impact of the other “E’s.” 
Evaluation efforts may include: 

 Measuring the growth of pedestrian facilities in the region 
 Measuring the mode share of trips in the region or the number 

of users on a specific pedestrian facility thru pedestrian counts 
 Measuring driver yielding behavior 
 Evaluating crash data (injuries and fatalities) for patterns or 

frequency 

 



 

 11 Regional Overview 

Current Plans and Policy Context 
Current Local Plans, Reports, and Statutes 
 
The Regional Pedestrian Plan included a review of many existing 
documents that, in part, address pedestrian issues. The following 
pages explain the content of several existing plans as they pertain 
to pedestrians.  

 

Kansas Pedestrian Statutes   
www.ksdot.org/bureaus/burRail/bike/biking/KssidewalkStatutes.asp: The Kansas 
Pedestrian Statues are the legal operational descriptions for 
pedestrian’s rules of the road for using pedestrian environments in 
Kansas. 

Kansas Bicycle and Pedestrian Transportation Plan (1995) 
www.ksdot.org/Assets/wwwksdotorg/bureaus/burRail/bike/Documents/bikeplan1995.pdf: The 
Kansas Bicycle and Pedestrian Transportation Plan expresses the 
importance of bicycle and walking as elements of Kansas' 
transportation system as the State moves forward into the 21st 

Century. The primary purpose of this document, which is a portion 
of the Kansas Long‐Range Transportation Plan, is to provide 
continued inclusion and planning of bicycle and pedestrian 
transportation facilities as components of the Kansas statewide 
transportation system. 

Lawrence Parks Master Plan (2000) www.lawrenceks.org/lprd/masterplan: The 
Parks Master Plan provides a roadmap for recreation facilities and 
programs in Lawrence. During the planning process, a resident 
survey was conducted in 1999 that identified the most important 
parks and recreation facilities to the residents were walking and 
biking trails (48%) and the most important improvements that 
residents think should be made to existing parks are: linking 
neighborhood parks with walking and biking trails (41%). The plan’s 
vision for Lawrence Parks and Recreation includes eight strategies, 

one of which includes creating additional neighborhood parks, 
facilities, and trails that provide safe community linkages and 
neighborhood connections.  

The Lawrence Parks Master Plan was in the process of an update in 
2016 at the time of the writing of the Regional Pedestrian Plan. 

Lawrence Complete Streets Policy  (2012) 
www.lawrenceks.org/assets/pds/planning/documents/CSPolicy.pdf: The Complete 
Streets Policy encourages an interdisciplinary approach to 
incorporate the needs of all users into the design, construction, and 
maintenance of public and private transportation infrastructure 
within Lawrence where feasible and fiscally appropriate. The 
Complete Streets Policy establishes guiding 
principles and practices to create an equitable, 
balanced, and effective transportation system 
encouraging walking, bicycling, and transit use, 
to improve health and reduce environmental 
impacts, while simultaneously promoting 
safety for all Users of Streets. This policy also 
encourages all facilities to follow the guidelines of the Americans 
with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines (ADAAG) and the 
proposed guidelines for accessible rights‐of‐way (PROWAG). 

Eudora Parks & Recreation Master Plan (2012) 
www.cityofeudoraks.gov/DocumentCenter/View/221: The Eudora Parks & 
Recreation Master Plan includes routes for bicycle and pedestrian 
facilities throughout Eudora to connect residents to the parks and 
recreation facilities throughout the community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

12  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Lawrence Retiree Attraction Task Force Final Report  (2012) 
www.lawrenceks.org/assets/boards/ratf/ss_retiree_attraction_task_force_final_report.pdf: The 
Lawrence Retiree Attraction Task Force focused on phased 
improvements that can be implemented to attract retirees to the 
Lawrence community. The report notes that seniors and retirees 
want walkable communities close to core services. This is found to 
be a weakness in the Lawrence community. The plan calls for local 
governments to provide opportunities for healthy lifestyles by 
continuing to fund expansion of the existing walking and bicycling 
networks. It also acknowledges that many more neighborhoods 
would be more walk‐friendly with an increase in, and maintenance 
of, city sidewalks, recognizing that some of the sidewalks are unsafe 
due to uneven concrete or the lack of curb cut‐outs. 

Transportation 2040 (2013) www.lawrenceks.org/mpo/t2040: Transportation 
2040 was adopted by the Lawrence ‐ Douglas County Metropolitan 
Planning Organization (L‐DC MPO) and serves as the region’s 
Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP). Part of the L‐DC 
Comprehensive Plan (Horizon 2020),  T2040 Plan 
emphasizes multimodal planning and 
recommends the creation of this Regional 
Pedestrian Plan. The process for updating T2040 
will begin in fall of 2016. A new MTP must be 
approved by March 21, 2018. 

Lawrence Cultural District Task Force 
Recommendations  (2013) 
www.lawrenceks.org/assets/agendas/cc/2013/12‐10‐
13/fai_cdtf_final_report.pdf: The Lawrence Cultural District Task Force 
Recommendations recognize the importance of active 
transportation in the planning for the communities’ existing and 
future cultural places. Their recommendations value the importance 
of active transportation on community health and desire to be able 
to access the districts safely by foot and bike. 

 

 

Douglas County Community Health Plan (2013)   
www.ldchealth.org/221/Community‐Health‐Plan : The Douglas 
County Community Health Plan envisions an 
environment and culture, through policy & 
systems change, that makes physical activity 
easier & more rewarding for people of all ages 
and abilities. The implementation of the built 
environment portion of that plan (by the 
LiveWell Lawrence Healthy Built Environment 
Work Group) works to make it easier for 
residents to walk, bike, and wheel to everyday destinations.  

Lawrence Fixed Route Transit  and Pedestrian Accessibility Study 
(2014) www.lawrenceks.org/assets/mpo/study/reports/transit.pdf: The Lawrence Fixed 
Route Transit & Pedestrian Accessibility Study recommends 
improvements to the pedestrian network to improve accessibility to 
transit service. The study explores obstacles transit riders face along 
routes, locations where improvements could be 
made to improve and/or enable people to access 
routes, and possible locations for bus turnouts to 
improve convenience and safety for riders and to 
enhance traffic operations. The study completed 
a system wide bus stop analysis and 
recommended four corridors for detailed 
evaluation, the corridors include: 23rd Street, 6th 
Street, 19th Street and Naismith Drive.  

2014‐2024 University of Kansas Campus Master Plan (2014) 
www.dcm.ku.edu/2014‐2024‐university‐kansas‐campus‐master‐plan : The KU Campus 
Master Plan identifies one of its goals as, “Reinforce the pedestrian 
experience, while fully developing a multimodal transportation 
system, providing access to the campus and community.”  The 
Douglas County Regional Pedestrian Plan seeks to coordinate its 
recommendations with those that have been laid out in the KU 
Master Plan, facilitating pedestrian connections between the City 
and campus. 

 



 

 13 Regional Overview 

Be Active Safe Routes www.beactivesaferoutes.com: Lawrence Be Active 
Safe Routes (BASR) is a local movement 
to make neighborhoods safe and 
accessible for everyone. Within BASR is 
the Safe Routes to School (SRTS) initiative 
which can increase opportunities for 
children to bike and walk to and from 
schools. SRTS can include a variety of multi‐disciplinary programs 
aimed at promoting walking and bicycling to school and improving 
traffic safety around school areas through education, incentives, 
law enforcement, and engineering measures. The Lawrence‐
Douglas County Health Department, in conjunction with Lawrence 
Public Schools, the City of Lawrence and the Lawrence‐Douglas 
County MPO, is facilitating this community‐wide effort to create 
individual school and a community Safe Routes Plan.  

There are current efforts in both Eudora and Baldwin City to 
improve the multimodal infrastructure for kids to access safe 
routes to and from school.  

Lawrence Pedestrian‐Bicycle Issues Task Force Final 
Recommendations (2016) www.lawrenceks.org/ped‐bike: This task force 
created a set of recommendations for the pedestrian environment 
to be considered by the City Commission and staff. The group 
prioritized filling sidewalk gaps along the SRTS network, along 
arterial and collector streets, and investing in facilities that provide 
safer conditions and access for seniors and people with disabilities. 
Additionally, the group recommended the establishment of a 
sidewalk repair program by 2017, and the formation of a 
consolidated transportation commission that would advise the City 
Commission on all transportation matters, including pedestrian 
issues. The Task Force proposed funding pedestrian projects 
through the reallocation of existing resources in the short‐term and 
dedicated pedestrian funding through renewal of the infrastructure 
sales tax in the long‐term. 

 

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA, 1990)   
http://www.ada.gov/pubs/adastatute08.htm: For over 100 years, street and 
sidewalk infrastructure were built without mandated consideration 
of individuals with disabilities. Therefore, the amount of labor, time, 
and money required to bring the region into full compliance with 
the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) standards is substantial. 
In order to best serve individuals with disabilities living in 
communities throughout the region, we must continue to improve 
accessibility of the pedestrian environment.  

With the signing of the act in 1990, all public agencies with more 
than 50 employees are required to make a transition plan which 
must include a schedule for providing access features to all 
programs and services offered by that public agency. The City of 
Lawrence developed a Self‐Evaluation Transition Plan in 1992. This 
plan describes the self‐evaluation of city employment, services, and 
facilities; as well as services provided by outside agencies to 
determine if all meet the standards set by the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. The plan also identifies the general priorities to be 
followed when making structural modifications to non‐compliant 
facilities. The ADA strives to enhance mobility for people with 
physical, cognitive, or sensory limitations. In 2010, Congress 
updated the ADA Standards for Accessible Design. Public agencies 
in Douglas County with over 50 employees must follow these 
standards. 

Effects of the ADA on the Douglas County region’s pedestrian 
infrastructure network are: 

 Curb ramps at intersections 

 Accessible pedestrian signals at intersections for 
individuals who are blind or visually impaired 

 Sidewalks with deflections or cross‐slope that prevents 
easy travel with a wheelchair 

 



 

14  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Pedestrian Progress Toolbox 
Municipalities, organizations, non‐profits, and advocates have many 
tools at their disposal to address pedestrian issues. The following is 
a list of policies, programs, and infrastructure tools that can be used 
to improve the pedestrian environment. 

Policy and Programs 
 
Safe Routes to Schools (SRTS) Program 
Walking and bicycling to school can be an important part of a 
healthy lifestyle, yet most children in Kansas do not start the day 
with either of these activities. The Kansas Department of 
Transportation, with funding from the Federal Highway 
Administration, has developed a program that would provide 
reimbursements to local public authorities and school districts for 
projects or activities that will make walking and bicycling to school 
safe, enjoyable, and routine.  

Through the SRTS program, funds are available for a variety of 
projects and programs that benefit elementary and middle school 
children. These programs are intended to be comprehensive, 
combining education, enforcement, encouragement, evaluation, 
and engineering.1  

Traffic Calming Through Reduced Speeds 
Pedestrian injuries are less frequent and severe on roadways with 
lower speeds. Many streets serving a variety of transportation 
modes carry traffic that travels at speeds incompatible with safe 
pedestrian activity. Reducing vehicle speed should include an 
approach that considers engineering, enforcement, and education 
measures. The safety benefits of reduced speeds include not only 

pedestrians but also motorists and cyclists. The advantage to 
pedestrians is the most substantial from an injury and fatality 
standpoint. 

Risk of pedestrian injury and death increases as vehicle speed 
increases. For motor vehicles that are involved in a pedestrian crash 
at a speed of 31 mph, risk of pedestrian injury is 50%, and risk of 
death is nearly 25%.2 Reducing vehicle speed is one way in which 
safety in the pedestrian environment can be improved.  

Traffic Safety Campaign 
A traffic safety campaign including motorist, bicyclist, and 
pedestrian education programs can improve safety for all road 
users. The addition of police resources and officers can help to 
enforce traffic laws for all users. Some communities have embraced 
the goals of Vision Zero or Toward Zero Deaths, which aims to 
eliminate serious injuries or fatalities caused by roadway traffic. 
Many of the following tools may help reduce serious traffic injuries 
or fatalities in Douglas County. 

No single policy or action exists to make streets and roads safer and 
more conducive to pedestrians. Instead, safer active transportation 
networks will only be achieved through a change in priorities for 
addressing transportation demand and land use. The Public Policies 
for Pedestrian and Bicyclist Safety and Mobility Report found, 
“there is also a need to change typical road user behavior, such as 
distracted and aggressive driving, as well as bicyclists and 
pedestrians not obeying traffic control devices.”3 Often this cultural 
behavior is changed through education and enforcement. 

Successful pedestrian safety education programs include a variety 
of different elements and strategies. Providing instruction on lawful 
and responsible behavior among bicyclists, pedestrians, and 
motorists is vital in an effective multimodal transportation network. 

1https://www.ksdot.org/bureaus/burTrafficEng/sztoolbox/Safe_Routes_to_School.asp 
2https://www.aaafoundation.org/sites/default/files/2011PedestrianRiskVsSpeed.pdf 
3http://www.pedbikeinfo.org/cms/downloads/PBSPolicyReview.pdf 



 

 15 Regional Overview 

Educating kids about pedestrian safety by working with school 
administrators and teachers to identify target ages for key 
educational messages can be an effective tool to connect with the 
target audience. In a similar way, reminding adults of important 
walking skills by working with college and high school 
administrators can be a good strategy as well. Including pedestrian 
information in driver’s education courses with examples of crash 
reports could be a useful exercise for inexperienced drivers. Finally, 
identifying what safety messages are most important for different 
target audiences and how to effectively deliver those messages can 
make a difference in the success of a pedestrian education program. 

Improved enforcement of traffic laws for bicyclists, pedestrians, and 
motorists should be encouraged. This can be done with the 
cooperation of the police department and city attorney by 
reviewing and, if necessary, modifying local and state laws that 
affect pedestrians, focusing on the regulations that unnecessarily 
restrict pedestrian traffic or that seem out of date when compared 
to the national models. Reviewing procedures for handling youthful 
violators can be an effective preventative enforcement effort as 
well. Some cities have utilized a special youth court for young 
people that violate traffic laws and special tickets that have multiple 
copies for the violator, the parents of the child, and the police 
station.  

Encouragement Programs 
Pedestrian encouragement programs enable individuals and 
organizations to create awareness of pedestrian issues by alerting 
others to the benefits of walking and the ways that walkable places 
foster a healthier, more livable community. These programs include 
employer‐driven incentive strategies such as mileage 
reimbursements, maps of walking routes, walk to school day, 
walking school buses under parental supervision, and pedestrian 
wayfinding signs. Challenging people to walk, distributing 
information in maps and brochures, and providing perks such as 
free pedometers can redefine how people think of transportation.  

Identifying organizations and groups with an interest in 
encouraging pedestrian transportation, and collaborating with 
them to develop programs,  is vital to sustain ongoing and future 
pedestrian efforts for encouragement.  

Pedestrian Inclusion in Development Review 
Ensuring pedestrians considerations are discussed early in the 
planning/design process for developments can prevent difficulties 
further along in the process. Instead of repairing and/or retrofitting 
areas within a city where pedestrian facilities were not originally 
anticipated but are now needed, it may be easier and less expensive 
to establish standards which consider space for pedestrians at the 
earliest stages of the planning process before infrastructure is built. 
These standards and guidelines should not be onerous, but they do 
need to set minimum expectations for improving the pedestrian 
experience with new roadways and reconstructions. A wide range 
of possible options for enhancing multimodal friendliness exists 
through design. The following treatments may be appropriate in 
some locations: 

 Street crossing treatments 
 Sidewalk design 
 Landscaping and amenities 
 Establishing subdivision regulations that limit negative impacts 

on pedestrian mobility such as blocks exceeding 600 feet, 
curvilinear streets, or streets with cul‐de‐sacs. Pedestrian 
easements or cut‐throughs can be used to improve pedestrian 
connectivity when long block lengths are unavoidable 

 Establishing a development code that mandates maximum 
setbacks for new developments to bring buildings closer to the 
sidewalk where they can easily be reached on foot, and 
encouraging walking paths within new developments 

 Adjusting traffic signal timing, creating a Leading Pedestrian 
Interval allowing pedestrians to begin crossing 3‐6 seconds 
before motor vehicles are given a green light, or disallowing 
right turns on red in certain locations 



 

16  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Creation of a Pedestrian Advisory Committee 
To improve multimodal planning and infrastructure, cities can 
establish a pedestrian advisory committee, a combined bicycle and 
pedestrian advisory committee, or can assign pedestrian planning 
and implementation responsibilities to an existing committee/ 
advisory group. The committee could coordinate pedestrian 
planning activities, oversee all pedestrian programs and policies, 
address pedestrian improvement needs, recommend funding for 
implementation, prioritize pedestrian improvements, and help to 
coordinate pedestrian planning with other modes of transportation. 
A pedestrian advisory group could also better act as a liaison 
between the general public and decision makers.  

Evaluation Tools 
Walk Friendly Communities (WFC)1 is a national recognition program 
to encourage cities across the U.S. to establish or recommit to a 
high priority for supporting safer walking environments. The 
program recognizes communities that have shown a commitment to 
improving pedestrian safety, mobility, access, and comfort through 
comprehensive programs, plans, and policies. Communities can 
apply to the program to receive recognition in the form of a Bronze, 
Silver, Gold, or Platinum designation. There is no cost to apply for a 
WFC designation, though it is estimated to take approximately 20–
60 hours of staff time to complete an application. This designation 
could be used as an objective way to measure the pedestrian 
friendliness of a city using a widely‐accepted national standard.  

Another way to evaluate progress would be to track and measure 
the annual expense and number of pedestrian improvements made 
by public projects and programming.  Furthermore, analyzing crash 
data would help to identify recurring safety issues. Also, collecting 
pedestrian count data would help provide insight on trends within 
the region. This combined knowledge would be useful in warranting 
future projects and estimating demand for facilities.  

Pedestrian Infrastructure Design 
Pedestrians are diverse, consisting of walkers, wheelchair users, 
people using mobility devices, and people with strollers, guide dogs, 
and canes. They walk, run, or wheel for enjoyment, purpose, 
comfort, and exercise. Pedestrians experience the environment 
differently because of unique mental abilities and physical 
attributes. The following infrastructure design tools can help to 
improve the pedestrian environment for various user types. The city‐
specific recommendations that follow encourage design that is 
comfortable for those with the lowest ability, resulting in an 
environment that is enjoyable for all users.  
Directness 
Distance is critical to the walking trip. Directness measures how well 
a community provides direct pedestrian connections to destinations 
such as transit stops, schools, parks, commercial centers, or activity 
areas. The grid street pattern typifies the ideal system, offering the 
pedestrian many potential routes. Common curvilinear subdivisions 
often lack direct connections because they contain cul‐de‐sacs that 
back up against commercial centers, schools, or parks and require a 

1www.walkfriendly.org 
2https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/bicycle_pedestrian/publications/network_report/page02.cfm 

Figure 1.1. The grid pattern on the right provides a more direct connection between 
destinations than the example on the left. Images taken from FHWA training materials. 2 



 

 17 Regional Overview 

circuitous route, which deters potential pedestrians. Figure 1.1 
shows two images which all have the same direct distance between 
the origin and destination. As cul‐de‐sacs and curvilinear streets 
become incorporated into the design, pedestrians must walk much 
longer actual distances to reach their destination.  

In The Smart Growth Network’s Pedestrian and Transit Friendly 
Design Manual, block lengths of less than 300 feet are 
recommended for high degrees of walkability and 300‐600 feet for 
average walkability.3  If long block lengths are unavoidable, 
pedestrian easements or cut‐throughs should be considered to 
provide improved connectivity. 

Continuity 
Continuity is a measure of the completeness of the sidewalk system 
and avoidance of missing segments. Under ideal circumstances, the 
pedestrian sidewalk appears as a single continuous network, with 
connections between sidewalks in the public right‐of‐way and a 
specific site. As sidewalks begin to appear only on one side of the 
street, or have gaps that deter pedestrians, the quality of the 
network design deteriorates. Segments without sidewalks on either 
side of the street create significant safety risks for pedestrians.  

Safety 
Crashes between pedestrians and motor vehicles can be caused by 
many factors. Regular analysis of pedestrian crash data should be 
performed to identify locations and countermeasures that address 
the specific location. The Federal Highway Administration 
recognizes that speed is a critical component of a safe road system, 
especially when roads contain a mix of user types (pedestrians, 
bicyclists, motor vehicles).4 Another part of the solution may be to 
change the geometry of the roadway or intersection through 
engineering design. 

 

Visual Interest, Amenities, and Personal Comfort 
To promote pedestrian activity, the pedestrian system needs to be 
aesthetically appealing and comfortable for all users. The 
attractiveness of the pedestrian network can be visually engaging, 
with enhancements like 
street lighting, fountains, 
and benches, or can cause 
discomfort and 
intimidation associated 
with the absence of 
amenities. The speed, 
volume, and noise of 
adjacent traffic, along with 
the buffer area between cars 
and pedestrians, can 
influence how comfortable 
one feels walking in a certain 
area. Areas to examine 
regarding visual interest, 
amenities, and personal 
comfort include the following elements: 

 Scale ‐ Does the urban environment reflect a human scale 
environment (pedestrian scale)? Are the colors , materials, and 
form of the pedestrian facilities and features appropriate to the 
area and do they functionally unite the pedestrian network? 

 Attractiveness ‐ Does the area include landscaping, vertical 
treatment, and sidewalk furnishings that improve the character 
and pedestrian scale of the urban environment? 

 Design ‐ Does the area include the site details, such as public 
art, that enhance the pedestrian scale of the street and become 
urban amenities? 

3http://www.fta.dot.gov/documents/ptfd_primer.pdf 
4https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/publicroads/13sepoct/02.cfm 

Image 1.1: Bulb outs are one example of            
engineering design that reduces travel 
distance for pedestrians crossing the street. 



 

18  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 Lighting ‐ Does the lighting improve the safety, aesthetics, and 
character of the area?  

 Maintenance ‐ Is the area well‐maintained, clean, and free of 
overgrown vegetation? 

 Adjacent Land Uses ‐ Are the land uses along the pedestrian 
network attractive and inviting such that they encourage 
pedestrian activities or are they unappealing, such as 
unmaintained buildings and parking lots? Is there a mix of land 
uses that leads to natural security (eyes on the street)? 

 Adjacent Motor Vehicles ‐ What is the volume of motor 
vehicles near the walking path? Do they cause too much noise or 
are they too physically close? 

Street Crossings 
Street crossings place the pedestrian in the middle of the street and 
exposed to potential conflicts with automobiles. Good pedestrian 
network design may be unique at each crossing. Finding the correct 
treatment to use can become very complex. There are some key 
elements that needing examination when considering changes to a 
street crossing.  

For an average pedestrian walking at 3 miles per hour (4.4 feet per 
second), it takes approximately 3 seconds to cross one 12’ traffic 
lane. Bike lanes and on‐street parking can increase crossing time. 
When determining the total time necessary for a walk signal phase, 
an additional 3 second cushion of safety is recommended. Older 
adults, children, and mobility impaired pedestrians take longer to 
cross. Potential tools to improve pedestrian safety at intersections 
include reducing lane width to 11 feet1, Leading Pedestrian Intervals, 
and disallowing right turns on red in certain locations.  The American 
Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) 
and the  National Association of City Transportation Officials 
(NACTO) provide guidance on engineering standards at crossings. 

 
 

Table 1.1 : Street Crossing Elements Defined 

1The American Association of Highway and Transportation Officials’ (AASHTO) policy on geometric design of highways and streets lists 11 foot lanes as an acceptable width for Arterial, 
Collector, and Residential streets, October 15, 2014. http://safety.fhwa.dot.gov/geometric/pubs/mitigationstrategies/chapter3/3_lanewidth.cfm 



 

 19 Regional Overview 

Accessibility and Quality 
Pedestrians using wheelchairs or other mobility 
devices can face significant challenges while using 
the pedestrian network. Network segments with a 
slope of greater than 8.3% may force a pedestrian to 
use another route. An example sign is shown at the 
right, indicating to pedestrians an upcoming steep 
grade. The Federal Highway Administration suggests periodic 
landing levels for steep grade segments as one potential solution. 
Other solutions include handrails or signs that indicate the sidewalk 
grade and inform users of alternate routes with lesser grades.2  

Similarly, routes with a high number of deflections or other defects 
can impede the easy 
travel of a wheelchair 
and cause trips and falls. 
In areas with decorative 
brick or pavers, options 
could be to use 
concrete with brick 
trim or create 
pathways with 
smoother, larger 
pavers that are easier 
to navigate but retain 
the historic feel that 
contributes to cultural 
enrichment2.  

Large parking lots in front of businesses could improve access and 
safety for customers by adding walking or wheeling pathways 
leading directly to the entrance.  

 

Security 
To encourage pedestrian activity, the pedestrian network should 
reduce both actual and perceived threats to security. This can be 
done through:  

 Street lighting for walking at night 

 Improved visual line of sight, especially at intersections 

 Separation from vehicles  

Figure 1.2 demonstrates that in the 2015 Lawrence Citizen Survey 
Report, 97% of respondents felt very safe or safe walking in their 
neighborhood during the day, and 76% felt very safe or safe walking 
in their neighborhood after dark. Nearly 1 in 4 residents felt unsafe 
navigating intersections on foot (24%).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/bicycle_pedestrian/publications/sidewalk2/sidewalks204.cfm  

Image 1.2: Sidewalks in Downtown Baldwin City, 
KS creatively use brick and concrete to preserve 
the historic nature of the area and allow for easy 
wheelchair travel   Figure 1.2: Perceptions of Safety 



 

20  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Public Outreach 
 

A significant step in the development process of the Douglas County 
Regional Pedestrian Plan included public involvement. The MPO’s 
public participation process reflects the MPO’s rigorous approach to 
public involvement with timely public notice, complete information, 
and full public access. The public participation process included 
opportunities for input via the following outreach tools:  

 Public website 

 Steering committee 

 Mobile meetings 

 Survey 

 
Project website 
 
Throughout the life of the project, a dedicated website was 
available for members of the public to find general information and 
updates on the development process of the regional pedestrian 
plan and contact information for questions. The website was hosted 
through the official City of Lawrence website at 
www.lawrenceks.org/mpo/PedPlan. 

 
 
 
 
 

Steering Committee 
 
A steering committee was formed by the MPO to provide input on 
and guide the development of the Regional Pedestrian Plan. The 
Steering Committee met regularly over the course of this plan’s 
development to review recommendations, provide local knowledge, 
and highlight pedestrian issues and desires. The steering committee 
included staff members from local municipalities, Douglas County, 
LiveWell Healthy Built Environment Work Group, Public Transit 
Advisory Committee, Regional Transit Advisory Committee, KDOT, 
KU, and public schools, as identified in Table 1.2. 

 
 
 
Table 1.2 : Regional Pedestrian Plan Steering Committee 



 

 21 Regional Overview 

Mobile Meetings 
 
Mobile meetings were held at various times and locations as an 
opportunity for people to ask questions and receive general 
information on the project. Paper versions of the survey were 
distributed at the meetings. Those meetings were held at the 
following locations/dates: 

 Safe Routes for All Town Hall, Liberty Hall in Lawrence (3‐25‐15) 

 Eudora Health and Bicycle Fair, Eudora Police & Fire Station       
(3‐28‐15) 

 Baldwin City Annual Community Wellness Festival, at Baker 
University (4‐18‐15) 

 Earth Day Celebration, South Park (4‐11‐15) 

 Baldwin City PTO School Carnival (4‐23‐16) 

 Aunt Netter’s, Lecompton (4‐29‐16) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Surveys 
 
The goal of the surveys was to determine a consensus on the 
community’s thoughts of walking and what types of improvements 
and destination types respondents felt were most important for the 
Douglas County region. 

The first survey contained 16 multiple choice, fill‐in‐the‐blank/box, 
personal information, ranking and rating questions and was active 
on the MPO webpage at www.lawrenceks.org/mpo/PedPlan/survey 
from March 16th, 2015 to April 25th, 2015. The public was informed 
that the survey was available through an email distribution list, a 
press release, and links on the City of Lawrence’s Facebook and 
Twitter. In addition to the online surveys, paper copies of the 
surveys were completed at mobile meetings. Responses to these 
questions have been incorporated into the recommendations of the 
Regional Pedestrian Plan.  There were a total of 401 pedestrian 
surveys taken. Of those surveys 336, about 84%, were taken online 
and 65 of the surveys, about 16%, were paper versions.  

Because of the low response rate from smaller communities in 
Douglas County in the initial 2015 survey, additional surveys were 
made available online for Eudora, Baldwin City, and Lecompton 
from April 22nd, 2016 to May 28th, 2016 online at 
www.lawrenceks.org/mpo/tellus. Paper surveys were also 
distributed at  Aunt Netter’s in Lecompton on April 29, 2016. For 
clarity in the following data results, each graphic will be identified by 
Survey 2015, Eudora Survey 2016, BC Survey 2016, or Lecompton 
Survey 2016.  

 
 
 



 

22  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Survey Data Analysis 
Survey Respondent Demographics 
 
The survey collected responses from 401 respondents. Of the 352 
survey respondents that chose to indicate their gender about 42 
percent were male and about 58 percent were female, shown in 
Figure 1.3. This survey was taken throughout Douglas County, 
although the overwhelming majority of respondents were from 
Lawrence, demonstrated in Figures 1.4 and 1.5. This was considered 
while creating a regional plan that addresses the needs of the entire 
county, including Eudora, Baldwin City, and Lecompton. 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Figure 1.3 (Survey 2015) : What is your gender? 

Figure 1.4 (Survey 2015) : Douglas County zip code map 

        Figure 1.5 (Survey 2015) : What is your zip code? 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

66044 66049 66046 66047 66025 66006 66050

N
um

be
r o

f R
es

po
nd

en
ts



 

 23 Regional Overview 

How often do you walk? 
 

 

 

Figure 1.6 demonstrates that over 56% of respondents walk 
frequently (several times a week to every day) or regularly (once or 
twice a week) as a means of transportation. Almost 28% of surveys 
indicated they walk infrequently, very infrequently or never as a 
means of transportation to destinations.  

 

 

 

 
 

\ 

 

Around 4 out of every 5 respondents indicated they walk frequently 
or regularly for enjoyment or recreation. 6% or less indicated they 
walk infrequently, very infrequently, or never for enjoyment or 
recreation, shown in Figure 1.7. 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1.6 (Survey 2015) : How often do you WALK as a means of 
TRANSPORTATION to destinations? 

Figure 1.7 (Survey 2015) : How often do you WALK for ENJOYMENT or 



 

24  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Why do you walk and for how long? 
 

Figure 1.8 shows that the top five reasons why 
respondents walk were regular exercise or workout, 
leisure, shopping, trips to parks or recreational 
facilities, and walking their pets. Half of the survey 
respondents are willing to spend 20 minutes or less 
walking to a destination. Only 19.9% of respondents 
indicated they would be willing to spend more than 
30 minutes walking to a destination. 

 

 
 
 
 
Ranking Pedestrian Factors  
 

Respondents were asked to rank pedestrian factors: 
continuity, directness, security, street crossings, and 
visual interest and amenity, 35% of respondents 
indicated security as the most important. Continuity 
was next at 28.8% followed by street crossings at 
22.6%. If you consider the most important and 2nd 
most important responses, the categories with the 
highest combined percentages were street crossings 
at 56.8%, security at 56.5%, and continuity at 51.1%, 
highlighted with boxes in Figure 1.10. 55.4% of 
respondents ranked visual interest and amenity as 
the least important factor. 

 

Figure 1.8 (Survey 2015): If you WALK/RUN, which describes why you do it? Check all that apply. 

Figure 1.10 (Survey 2015): Rank the following pedestrian factors in order of importance 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Security Continuity Street
Crossings

Directness Visual Interest
and Amenity

Pe
rc
en

t o
f R

es
po

nd
en

ts

Least Important

4th Most Important

3rd Most Important

2nd Most Important

Most Important

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Regular
exercise or
workout

Leisure Shopping Trips to
parks or

recreational
facilities

Walk Pet Routine
errands

Social visits Trips to the
library,

museums
and similar

places

Family
outings

Commuting
to work or
school

Going to
meetings or

in the
conduct of
business

Training for
events (5K,

10K,
Marathon,

etc.)

Other

N
um

be
r o

f R
es

po
nd

en
ts

Less than 1 minute, 2.0%

5‐10 minutes, 15.0% 10‐20 minutes, 33.2% 20‐30 minutes, 30.0% More than 30 minutes, 
19.9%

Figure 1.9 (Survey 2015): How long are you willing to walk to a destination? 



 

 25 Regional Overview 

Rating Pedestrian Actions 
 

Respondents were asked to choose how important they 
thought sixteen different actions would be to improve the 
city’s pedestrian environment. Each action was rated on a 
scale of 1‐5 (1 being not important and 5 being very 
important). Figure 1.11 shows that the action that was 
indicated as very important by the largest proportion of 
survey respondents was constructing sidewalks (5‐6 foot 
wide paved surface) on at least one side of all streets where 
no sidewalks currently exist at 64.4%, followed by programs 
that maintain the condition of sidewalks at 53.7%. About 30 
to 40 percent of respondents marked important on every 
pedestrian action.  

 
Constructing sidewalks on both sides of streets where 
sidewalks exist only on one side of the street or do not exist 
had the highest number of people say the factor was not 
important at 16.2% followed by pedestrian way finding and 
directional signs at 12.2% shown to the right in Figure 1.10. It 
should be noted that stronger enforcement of traffic laws 
was not available as an option on paper copies of the survey 
due to staff error.  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Constructing
sidewalks  on
AT LEAST ONE

side of all
streets where

NO
SIDEWALKS
CURRENTLY

EXISTS

Programs that
maintain the
condition of
the sidewalks

Stronger
enforcement
of traffic laws*

Installing
pedestrian
countdown
crossing
signals

Providing
protected
areas for

pedestrians at
crossings of
wide streets

Constructing
pedestrian
connections
between

neighborhoods

Better
markings at
crosswalks

Constructing
shared use

paths for both
pedestrians
and bicyclists

Pe
rc
en

t o
f R

es
po

nd
en

ts

Figures 1.11 (Survey 2015) : How important do you think the following actions would be in 
improving your city's pedestrian environment? 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Reconstructing
sidewalk ramps

and other
walkway

elements to
current

standards

Establishing
groups of kids

walking to school
under the

supervision of
parents

Installing
pedestrian
countdown

crossing signals

Providing
walking paths
within retail

developments

Provide
additional time
for pedestrians

to cross at
signalized

intersections

Constructing
sidewalks on
BOTH sides of
streets where

sidewalks EXISTS
ONLY ON ONE
SIDE of the
street OR DO
NOT EXIST

Constructing 
walkways 

connecting the 
public sidewalk 

to a shop’s 
entrance

Pedestrian
wayfinding and
directional signs

Pe
rc
en

t o
f R

es
po

nd
en

ts

Very Important Important Somewhat Important Neutral Not Important



 

26  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Survey Respondent Priorities 
 
Survey respondents were also asked to rank the top three actions out 
of those sixteen that would best improve their city’s pedestrian 
environment. Figure 1.12 is organized by actions that were chosen as 
most important by respondents. The pedestrian action that had the 
highest percentage of respondents marked as the most important 
was constructing sidewalks on at least one side of all streets where 
no sidewalks currently exist. 41.7% of respondents chose this action 
followed closely by constructing shared use paths for both 
pedestrians and cyclists at 38.4%.  

All other categories had less than 20% as the top priority. A combined 
96.7% of responses marked constructing shared use paths for both 
pedestrians and cyclists as a top three pedestrian action. This 
combined percentage was significantly higher than any other 
pedestrian action.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Figure 1.12 (Survey 2015): Please rank the top three actions from the 
previous list that would best improve your city's pedestrian environment. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Constructing
sidewalks  on
AT LEAST ONE

side of all
streets where
NO SIDEWALKS
CURRENTLY

EXISTS

Constructing
shared use

paths for both
pedestrians and

cyclists

Programs that
maintain the
condition of
sidewalks

Better markings
at crosswalks

Constructing
sidewalks on
BOTH sides of
streets where
sidewalks

EXISTS ONLY
ON ONE SIDE of
the street OR
DO NOT EXIST

Installing
pedestrian

corssing signals
at school

crossings and
other

important
locations

Constructing
pedestrian
connections
between

neighborhoods

Reconstructing
sidewalk ramps

and other
walkway

elements to
current

standards

Pe
rc
en

t o
f R

es
po

nd
en

ts

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Providing
protected areas
for pedestrians
at crossings of
wide streets

Installing
pedestrian
countdown

crossing signals

Establishing
groups of kids
walking to

school under the
supervision of

parents

Stronger
enforcement of
traffic laws*

Providing
walking paths
within retail

developments

Constructing
walkways

connecting the
public sidewalk

to a shop's
entrance

Providing
additional time
for pedestrians

to cross at
signalized

intersections

Pedestrian
wayfinding and
directional signs

Pe
rc
en

t o
f R

es
po

nd
en

ts

1st Priority 2nd Priority 3rd Priority



 

 27 Regional Overview 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

K‐12 Schools Neighborhoods Parks Downtown Shopping
Centers

Baker University Other Places of
 employment

Library

Pe
rc
en

t o
f R

es
po

nd
en

ts

Destination Types 
 
Survey respondents in Lawrence were asked to rank the top three 
destination types that need to be focused on to improve pedestrian 
access the most. Figure 1.13 shows that K‐12 schools were chosen as 
the first selection by 57.8% of survey respondents. Neighborhoods 
came after that with 14.3% of responses as the first selection. The 
top three destinations with the highest combined percentages of 
first, second, and third priorities were K‐12 schools, neighborhoods, 
and access to transit/bus stops. 

Surveys for Eudora and Baldwin City residents asked for the top 
three destination types to focus on, but did not ask for rankings. 
Figures 1.14 and 1.15 demonstrate that schools, neighborhoods, and 
parks are a top 3 priority for residents in Baldwin City and Eudora. 

Lecompton had too few respondents to the survey to present data 
in this format. 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1.13 (Survey 2015): Please rank the top three destination types you 
think we need to focus on improving pedestrian access the most. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

K‐12 Schools Neighborhoods Downtown Access to
transit/bus stops

Parks Places of
employment

KU/Haskell Shopping
Centers

Pe
rc
en

t o
f R

es
po

nd
en

ts

1st Priority 2nd Priority 3rd Priority

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Neighborhoods Parks K‐12 Schools Downtown Shopping
Centers

Other Library

Pe
rc
en

t o
f R

es
po

nd
en

ts

Figure 1.14 (Eudora Survey 2016): Please pick the top three destination types 
you think we need to focus on improving pedestrian access the most. 

Figure 1.15 (BC Survey 2016): Please pick the top three destination types you 
think we need to focus on improving pedestrian access the most. 



 

28  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Regional Pedestrian Plan Crash 
Analysis 

 

A key element of livable communities is a safe and convenient place 
for people to bike and walk as part of their daily activities. 
Pedestrian facilities must accommodate a wide variety of user types, 
needs, and abilities. Pedestrian routes should be safe for walking. 
Existing safety issues may include hazards, lighting, vehicular 
conflicts, or conflicts with other sidewalk users. Routes should also 
provide access to various destinations via a reasonably direct route 
and allow for fluidity of traffic movement at intersections.  

 

Unless otherwise stated, this analysis used the available data 
reported by Law Enforcement Officers on the Kansas Motor Vehicle 
Accident Report Form from 2009‐2013 provided by the Kansas 
Department of Transportation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Douglas County ‐ Pedestrian Incidents by City 
& Geographic Area 
 

In Figure 1.16, data shows a trend of pedestrian incidents in 
Lawrence increasing in number over time. Injuries make up the 
largest proportion of injury types in Douglas County, 95.6% of all 
incidents. Property damage incidents were 3.9% of all incidents, 
while fatalities were 0.3% of all incidents. Figure 1.17 on the following 
page shows where the highest number of incidents took place and 
where incidents overlap with minority and low‐income populations. 
The vast majority of pedestrian incidents took place in Lawrence, 
while a handful occurred in Eudora, Baldwin City, and 
unincorporated areas of Douglas County.  

 

Data shows pedestrian‐related crashes occurred within urban areas 
– 93% of all incidents – more often than within rural areas, which only 
accounted for 7% of all incidents.  

 

Figure 1.16: Douglas County Pedestrian Incidents by City (2009‐2013) 



 

 29 Regional Overview 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1.17: Douglas County Pedestrian Crash Density with Environmental Justice (2009‐2013)** 

2 

3 



 

30  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Pedestrian Crash Density 
 
An analysis of the spatial distribution of crashes shows that certain 
corridors have more issues than others, most notably 6th Street, 19th 
Street, and Iowa Street in Lawrence and along Highway 56 in Baldwin 
City. These corridors could merit conducting roadway audits and site‐
specific analyses to determine whether infrastructure access, 
roadway operations, or behavioral issues such as failure to yield, 
speeding, or crossing at night without lights are associated with 
increased crash numbers in these areas. A roadway safety audit was 
conducted by the City of Lawrence Public Works Department for the 
19th Street corridor on March 26th, 2015. The audit suggested updates 
to crosswalks, pedestrian countdown signals, and replacement of 
sidewalk along the corridor. Site‐specific issues can be found in the 
detailed report at 
www.lawrenceks.org/assets/mpo/corridor/19thStRSA.pdf.  

 

 

 

 

Pedestrian Crash Type and Severity 
 
A comparison of the crash severity of pedestrian and motor vehicle 
crashes in Douglas County notes some striking differences. Table 1.3 
shows that pedestrian crashes had a significantly higher proportion of 
injuries at 95.7% while 20.6% of motor vehicle crashes involved an 
injury. The majority of motor vehicle crashes, about 79.2%, were 
property damage only incidents. The percentage of crashes with 
fatalities for both pedestrian and motor vehicle crashes were 0.4%, 
and 0.2%, respectively.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

“Crash” versus “Accident” 

The word  “crash” may be new  to  some people  as  a way  to 
describe  the event  in which a bicyclist or pedestrian  collides 
with a motor vehicle,  in a way that can result  in bodily harm 
and/or property damage. Historically, these events were called 
accidents. The  term  accident  implies heavy doses of  chance, 
unknown  causes,  and  the  connotation  that  nothing  can  be 
done to prevent them. Crashes are preventable. Bicyclist and 
pedestrian  crashes  are  not  random  events.  They  fall  into  a 
pattern of recurring crash types and occur because the parties 
involved make mistakes.  The mistakes  can be  identified  and 
counteracted  through  a  combination  of  education,  skill 
development,  engineering,  and  enforcement  measures  that 
can  substantially  reduce  crash  occurrences.  There  is  a 
continuing need  to  establish  the mindset  that bicyclists  and 
pedestrians are worthy and viable users of our transportation 
system. 

Table 1.3 : Douglas County Pedestrian/Motor Vehicle Crash Severity (2009‐2013) 



 

 31 Regional Overview 

Douglas County ‐ Age of Pedestrians and 
Drivers 
 
Data in Figure 1.18 shows that the age group highest at risk for 
pedestrian crashes both as a pedestrian and a driver is the age 
group 20‐29. In Douglas County, a large percentage of the overall 
population is within this age group. To understand if these 
proportions of incidents were notably higher than we would expect, 
we compared the county demographics with the number of 
pedestrian incidents in each age group. While the age group 20‐29 
accounts for 31.4% of the population, that age group is involved in a 
higher percentage of pedestrian incidents, both as the pedestrian 
and as the driver. This suggests that education targeted at this age 
group may be appropriate. The single Douglas County pedestrian 
fatality was in the 80‐89 age group.  

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1.18: Age of Pedestrians and Drivers Involved in Pedestrian Incidents Compared to Douglas County Demographics 



 

32  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Douglas County ‐ Time of Day 
 
Figure 1.19 shows that peak travel times between 2:00‐7:59 PM 
accounted for the largest proportion of pedestrian crashes and 
should be the focus of enforcement and other activities. This trend 
demonstrates an increase in crashes during hours that coincide with 
the end of a typical school day and the afternoon commute. 

Douglas County ‐ Day of the Week 

Figure 1.20 shows that Sunday and Monday have the fewest number 
of incidents while Thursday, Friday, and Saturday have a higher 
number of pedestrian incidents. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Douglas County ‐ Month of the Year 
 
Figure 1.21 demonstrates that the months of February, April, and 
May had the highest number of pedestrian incidents. However, it is 
important to note that February has fewer days than any other 
month; Overall, summer months June and July had the lowest 
numbers of incidents than other months. The low attendance of 
universities during the summer months is likely to account for this 
dramatic decrease in pedestrian incidents for June and July. The 
winter months December and January had significantly lower 
numbers than the rest of the year. This could be attributed to the 
weather conditions that change pedestrian behaviors, as well as a 
decrease in university attendance. The data demonstrated on page 
29 about age of both pedestrians and drivers, coupled with this 
data, suggests that targeted education at the university‐level in 
Douglas County at the beginning of each semester may improve 
pedestrian safety, given that a large number of young drivers come 
to town during that time. However, the data may also suggest that a 
higher number of crashes happen simply because there are more 
people in town. A comparison with monthly weather conditions 
(temperature, precipitation, snowfall) is inconclusive due to various 
factors in the cause of pedestrian incidents.  

 

 

 
 
 
 

Figure 1.19: Individuals involved in Pedestrian Crashes by Time of Day (2009‐2013) 

0
5
10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45

Nu
m
be

r o
f I
nd

iv
id
ua

ls

Figure 1.20: Pedestrian Incidents by Day of the Week (2009‐2013) 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday

N
um

be
r o

f I
nc
id
en

ts

Figure 1.21: Pedestrian Incidents by Month of the Year (2009‐2013) 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Nu
m
be

r o
f I
nc
id
en

ts



 

 33 Regional Overview 

Douglas County – Light, Weather and Surface 
Conditions 
 
Shown in Figure 1.22, the majority of pedestrian incidents occurred 
in Daylight, 58%, followed by “Dark: Lights on” at 30%. Only 6 
percent of incidents occurred in “Dark: no lights” and the Dawn, 
Dusk and Unknown categories each accounted for less than 3% of 
all incidents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1.23 demonstrates that in terms of weather conditions, the 
majority, 87%, of pedestrian crash incidents occurred in clear 
conditions. Rain was the next significant category, with an 
occurrence in 11% of pedestrian crash incidents. The remaining 
categories combined for less than 2% of all incidents. Since the 
majority of pedestrian crash incidents occurred in clear weather 
conditions, this suggests inclement weather had very little effect on 
the likelihood of a pedestrian crash.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1.24 indicates that 79% of pedestrian crash incidents occurred 
under dry surface conditions, followed by wet conditions at 17%. 
The rest of the  categories combined accounted for  less than 5% of 
all incidents. Since the number of pedestrian crash incidents is 
substantially higher in dry conditions, this suggests inclement 
weather discouraged pedestrians from walking, or encouraged 
more caution from drivers and pedestrians alike.  

 

Figure 1.23: Number of Pedestrian Incidents by Weather Conditions (2009‐2013) 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

N
um

be
r o

f I
nc
id
en

ts Clear Weather

Rain, Mist, Drizzle

Freezing Rain

Sleet

Snow

Strong Winds

 Figure 1.22: Number of Pedestrian Incidents by Light Conditions (2009‐2013) 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Daylight Dark:
Lights on

Dark: No
Lights

Dawn Dusk Unknown

N
um

be
r o

f I
nc
id
en

ts

Figure 1.24: Pedestrian Incident Surface Conditions (2009‐2013) 



 

34  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Douglas County ‐ Location of First Harmful 
Event and Pedestrian Action 
 
Figure 1.25 demonstrates that the majority of pedestrian crash 
incidents by location of first harmful event occurred “in crosswalk or 
bikeway” – 48%, or “not in intersection” – 32%. A smaller proportion 
of incidents occurred “not in roadway” – 7% or “not in crosswalk or 
bikeway” – 6%.  

Figure 1.26 shows the greatest number of pedestrian‐related 
contributing circumstances for pedestrian crashes were “playing, 
running, or walking in roadway” ‐ 35%, and “entering or crossing 
roadway” ‐ 28% of all incidents. A smaller proportion of pedestrian‐
related actions include “going to and from school” – 17%. 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Figure 1.26: Pedestrian Incidents by Pedestrian Action (2009‐2013) 

2% 4%

12%

55%

2%

4%

7%

1% 8%

5%
Approaching or Leaving Bus

Approaching or Leaving Vehicle

Entering or Crossing Roadway

Playing, Running, or Walking in
Roadway

Pushing or Working on Vehicle

Sitting, Standing, or Lying in Roadway

Going To or From School

Working in Roadway

Unknown

Figure 1.25: Location of First Harmful Event in Pedestrian Crashes 

48%

2%6%

32%

7%
3% 2%

In Crosswalk or Bikeway

In Intersection

Not in Crosswalk or Bikeway

Not in Intersection

Not in Roadway

Other

Unknown



 

 35 Regional Overview 

Douglas County – Driver/Pedestrian 
Impairment 
 
Figure 1.27 shows that over 86% of pedestrian incidents by driver 
impairment were unimpaired. Only 4% of pedestrian incidents 
involved drivers impaired by alcohol. Figure 1.28 demonstrates that 
over 93% of pedestrian incidents by pedestrian involvement were 
unimpaired while the remaining 7% occurred when alcohol was 
involved.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Figure 1.27: Driver Impairment ‐ Pedestrian Incidents (2009‐2013) 

86%

4%

10%

Non‐Impairment Alcohol Unknown

93%

7%

Figure 1.28: Pedestrian Impairment ‐ Pedestrian Incidents (2009‐2013) 

Non‐Impairment Alcohol



 

36  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Strengths and Limitations of the Regional 
Pedestrian Crash Data 
 
The data that is currently collected and was made available to the 
MPO staff during this study process contains valuable information 
about the demographics of individuals involved in the crash, specific 
locations of crashes occurring at an intersection or midblock, 
existence of traffic controls at crash locations, and travel speeds of 
motorists in crashes resulting in injuries or fatalities. Figure 1.28 
shows the information collected through a Kansas Motor Vehicle 
Accident Report Form. However, missing or incomplete motor 
vehicle accident report forms limit the ability of the MPO to 
accurately analyze and plan for improvements to the pedestrian 
network.  
State crash reports are only filed if the crash includes a motor vehicle. 
There is a local Lawrence ordinance that requires any injury accident 
over $50 to be reported to the Lawrence Police Department. However, 
the ordinance doesn’t have a standard for how that is documented. 
Some officers take the verbal report and thank the caller; others at 
their discre on file an informa on report. Informa on reports are 
unable to be easily queried for bicycle/pedestrian related informa on. 

KU collects crash data when reported to KU Public Safety using the 
state crash repor ng form. Some of the data years are missing and 
currently the data is not believed to be geocoded or mapped although 
there are research efforts ongoing that might be working on this.  

 

 

 

 

Douglas County Public Works receives copies of accident reports 
worked by the Douglas County Sheriff’s Office for roads outside 
incorporated areas except state highways. They map the data and 
could query it from their database. Their data is missing accidents on 
roads worked by the Kansas Highway Patrol. The County submits all 
their reports to the State. 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1.29: Kansas Motor Vehicle Accident Report Form1 

1 Kansas Motor Vehicle Accident Report Form1 http://www.nhtsa‐tsis.net/statecatalog/states/ks/docs/KS_2010_Crash_Coding_Manual_8_18_10.pdf 



 

 37 Regional Overview 

Crash Data Conclusion 
The preceding crash data shows that certain demographics and 
locations within the region should be targeted to reduce the 
amount of pedestrian injuries and deaths. Drivers and pedestrians in 
the age group of 20‐29 are involved in a larger percentage of 
incidents than one would expect when compared with countywide 
demographics. This  data reveals the need to  target this age 
demographic for safety education.  

Additionally, the comparison of injury and fatalities between 
pedestrian and automobile accidents suggests more could be done 
to educate drivers and pedestrians alike of the serious risks of injury 
that pedestrians face when involved in a crash.  

Funding 
Over the last 150 years, the majority of the pedestrian network (i.e.  
streets, storm sewers, sidewalks, cross walks, curb ramps and other 
infrastructure) has been built and paid for by individual property 
owners one piece at a time as development occurred. However, 
homeowners and business owners are expected to maintain the 
section of sidewalk in front of their property where roads are 
typically maintained by municipalities. The difference between how 
we think about maintenance funding of infrastructure for one travel 
mode versus another has created inequities and problems with 
creating a truly pedestrian transport network. Thus, pedestrian 
elements should be included in street projects.  

Without short‐term and long‐term funding solutions for capital 
improvements, pedestrian infrastructure, amenities, and planning 
will remain at minimal investment levels when compared to the 
overall transportation network. The need to fund active 
transportation is fundamental to creating viable pedestrian 
networks and in creating urban areas with a high quality of life.  

Local Dedicated Funding 
Local governments should consider funding sources that provide 
consistent funds to improve the pedestrian network. Cities should 
also consider additional set‐aside funding for maintenance of 
existing infrastructure and construction of new infrastructure to 
complete and maintain a quality pedestrian network or enforce 
current laws to prompt property owners to make improvements. 
Developers should continue to be responsible for providing 
pedestrian facilities on their sites. Merely including pedestrian 
improvements in roadway projects fails to build a well‐planned 
network for pedestrian users. Instead, this strategy only improves 
segments when they correspond with needs in the vehicular 
network.  

Private Funding 
Private grants and fundraising can be utilized as a way to provide 
additional resources for pedestrian programs and built environment 
improvements. Grants focusing on providing pedestrian access to 
services and promote a healthy lifestyle should be explored as 
possible pedestrian improvement funding sources. 

Federal Funding 
Under the Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act1 , 
funding for bike, pedestrian, or other alternative projects is 
provided through set‐asides in the Surface Transportation Block 
Grant Program (STBGP). Because the urbanized area of Douglas 
County does not have over 200,000 people, the LDC‐MPO is not 
directly allocated this set‐aside funding. Instead, KDOT is given this 
funding and can choose to transfer 50% of these STBGP funds for all 
project types, not specifically bike, pedestrian, or other alternative 
projects. No set‐aside funds have been transferred at the time of the 

1 www.congress.gov/114/bills/hr22/BILLS‐114hr22enr.pdf 



 

38  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

development of this Plan. Municipalities across the state can submit 
project applications to KDOT to receive available set‐aside funding.  

While the FAST Act creates a priority safety fund to reduce bicycle 
and pedestrian fatalities, only states in which 15% or more of overall 
fatalities are bicyclists or pedestrians with be eligible to receive 
these funds. Kansas is not currently eligible to receive these funds 
because bicycle and pedestrian deaths do not make up 15% of the 
overall fatalities in the state. Complete impacts of the FAST Act are 
unknown at this time as it was approved by Congress and signed 
into law in December 2015. 

Data Collection/Evaluation Plan 
Future Data Collection and Evaluation 
Future data collection could include automatic electronic counting 
methods and/or routine origin‐destination surveys, although limits 
to using these methods are often a lack of time and money. The 
primary goal of this data collection is to observe trends that would 
inform future planning processes for the pedestrian transportation 
network. Additional data should also be collected for the continued 
improvement of measuring Pedestrian Level of Service. 

The pedestrian network in Douglas County needs to be evaluated on 
much more than crash data and new sidewalk construction. The 
vision and focus areas listed on page 2 need to be regularly assessed 
to determine if our pedestrian networks are improving across the 
many factors that we determined to be important to the system.  

Each city within the region will have its own unique challenges and 
capabilities in regards to addressing the seven focus areas. The 
following sections of this plan will explore recommendations for 
each city within Douglas County to improve the pedestrian 
environment.  

 

 

Pedestrian Count Data 

Since 2009, the MPO has been conducting annual manual bicycle 
and pedestrian counts with trained volunteers as part of the 
National Bicycle & Pedestrian Documentation Project. These field 
observations are labor‐intensive, but can provide more complex 
information than automated counting methods. The project aims to 
establish a consistent methodology for counting and surveying 
bicyclists and pedestrians and develop a National database of 
bicycle and pedestrian activity. The Institute of Transportation 
Engineers (ITE) and transportation professionals nationwide have 
helped to develop the methodology, which requires the following 
features: 

 Consistent days and times 
 Consistent methods and materials, including training of 

volunteers 
 Centralized data collection and analysis practices 
 

Lawrence Bicycle and Pedestrian count locations were developed 
consistent with the methodology developed for the NBPDP by Alta 
Planning and based on the following criteria: 

 Representative locations throughout the city 
 Bicycle and pedestrian activity areas or corridors (downtowns, 

near schools, parks, etc.) 
 Locations near proposed major bicycle or pedestrian 

improvements 
 Key corridors that can be used to gauge the impacts of future 

improvements 
 Places where counts have been conducted historically 
 Locations where collisions between motor vehicles and bicycles 

and/or pedestrians are more prevalent 

Pedestrians are counted when they pass a location’s screen line. 
Counts are conducted during three 2‐hour time slots: 10am‐12pm 
and 5pm‐7pm on weekdays and 12pm‐2pm on a Saturday. Dates for 



 

 39 Regional Overview 

conducting counts are chosen based on the National Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Documentation Project’s recommended September 
count weeks. Coordinated count dates allow for comparison with 
other cities. Pedestrian traffic counts are more variable due to 
weather and events than motor vehicle volumes; thus, some years 
display notably lower pedestrian counts than others. The bicycle and 
pedestrian count forms for Lawrence, Eudora, and Baldwin City can 
be found at www.lawrenceks.org/mpo/bicycle_planning.  

Walk Friendly Community Program 

Cities in the region may consider applying for a Walk Friendly 
Community designation as a way to evaluate continued progress 
and commitment to a quality pedestrian environment. Recognition 
is in the form of a Bronze, Silver, Gold, or Platinum designation. By 
applying for a WFC designation, each community will receive specific 
suggestions and resources on how to make needed changes for and 
improved pedestrian environment.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Conclusion  
This Pedestrian Plan provides the primary basis for pedestrian 
planning, pedestrian prioritization, and pedestrian policy. When the 
Metropolitan Transportation Plan Transportation 2040 (T2040) is 
updated, this Plan and any subsequent work will be incorporated 
into the existing pedestrian projects and policies in the Pedestrian 
Chapter. 

The Pedestrian Plan is an important document because it enables 
city staff to make consistent decisions that affect the pedestrian 
environment in a positive way. It sets the stage for policy discussion 
regarding sidewalk requirements, helps protect streets with 
developed pedestrian infrastructure, prioritizes streets with 
underdeveloped pedestrian infrastructure for upgrades, and lists 
specific projects recommended by the public.  

The following sections take a focused look at each city within 
Douglas County, assessing the current environment and making 
recommendations for improvements. Each city in the County 
provided unique technical and citizen input that informed 
recommendations for policies, programs, and infrastructure 
improvements. Different tools from the Pedestrian Progress 
Toolbox were suggested to address distinct challenges and 
opportunities in each community. Tools recommended for each city 
aim to address the focus areas within the countywide vision on page 
7.  

 
 



 

40  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

This page intentionally left blank 



 

 41 Lawrence 

Lawrence 
 

 

 

Table of Contents 

Existing Infrastructure      42 

Funding            50 

Pedestrian Network  
Design Grades           53 

Policy and Program 
Recommendations        60 

Infrastructure Recommendations  66 

Conclusion          72 

Background 

With 93,917 residents located between Topeka and Kansas City, 
Lawrence has many people commuting by personal vehicle for 
work. The quality of the pedestrian experience can be quite 
different in various areas of the city. Downtown Lawrence is one of 
the most walkable areas in town, with shops and restaurants 
drawing high numbers of visitors. Many elementary schools are 
located within walking distance for neighborhood children, while 
some children must travel farther distances. The coordinated KU 
and Lawrence public transit system provides a transportation 
option for those looking to get around town on foot. Newer 
residential areas boast continuous sidewalks, but may not be 
within walking distance of many pedestrian destinations such as 
parks, shops, libraries, and grocery stores. Older neighborhoods 
have historic brick sidewalks in varying states of repair. Sidewalk 
gaps exist in all areas of town on arterial, collector, and residential 
streets. 

The scope of repairs and new construction to complete the 
sidewalk network in Lawrence is daunting and expensive. For that 
reason, clear goals and priorities are paramount to targeting 
limited resources to make the largest impact. Later in this chapter, 
potential implementation scenarios describe ways in which 
Lawrence might approach the improvement of the pedestrian 
network. 

Lawrence 

D
ou

gl
as
 C
ou

nt
y 



42 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Existing Pedestrian Infrastructure ‐ Lawrence 

In 2014, the City of Lawrence’s Public Works Department updated 
the 2006 sidewalk inventory data. The entire sidewalk network was 
inventoried utilizing GPS technology. Staff walked and/or drove all 
sidewalk locations within the city, and as they encountered a 
defect , recorded it using an iPad. A map of the sidewalk defects and 
ramps in the City of Lawrence can be found at www.lawrenceks.org/
assets/agendas/ss/2014/06‐17‐14/Attachment%20C2_Sidewalk%
20Inventory_Map.pdf. Staff inventoried the sidewalks for the 
following defects: 

          Vertical deflections <1”     Manholes     
          Vertical deflections >1”     Missing sidewalk 
          Horizontal gaps  Gaps 
          Tree roots     No ADA ramp exists 
          Cross slope  ADA ramp compliant 
          Brick resets  ADA ramp non‐compliant 
 

Findings  

Maintenance 

Maintenance includes the repair of existing sidewalk defects as well 
as replacing missing panels within a continuous sidewalk. The cost 
to repair existing sidewalk defects throughout Lawrence is 
estimated at $6.2 million. Estimates do not include ancillary costs 
such as tree removal or utility relocation. Further maintenance 
information can be found in Table 2.1 on the following page.  

 

Ramps 

The inventory identified 3,438 ADA compliant ramps, 3,760 non‐
compliant ramps, and 256 locations where no ramp exists. The 
average cost to construct an ADA compliant ramp is $800. The 
estimated cost to install or repair ramps on existing sidewalks is $3.2 
million. This estimate does not include ramps to be added to newly 
constructed sidewalk where no sidewalk currently exists. Further 
ramp information can be found in Table 2.1 on the following page 
and Figure 2.2 on page 44. This plan recognizes that some ramps 
have been constructed or repaired since this data was collected in 
2014. An update to the number of compliant, non‐compliant, and 
non‐existing ramps was outside the scope of this planning process. 

Missing Sidewalk 

In this section, missing sidewalk is defined as long stretches of 
missing sidewalk, as opposed to missing panels within an existing 
continuous sidewalk. The estimated cost for installing missing 
sidewalk on at least one side of every street in Lawrence is $10.5 
million. The estimated cost for installing sidewalk on both sides of 
every street in Lawrence is $118.7 million1. These estimates do not 
include the costs of ramp construction or maintenance to existing 
sidewalks. A map of missing sidewalks is shown on page 43. 

 

 

 1http://lawrenceks.org/assets/boards/pedestrian‐bicycle/PedCostsSummary1.8.16.pdf 



 

 43 Lawrence 

 Table 2.1: 2014 Lawrence Sidewalk Inventory Defect Report by Roadway Classification1 

*construction costs would be calculated differently 
**should be thought of as length of missing panels in a continuous sidewalk 

*Collector and Residential Sidewalks 5 feet, Arterial Sidewalks 6 feet 
*Arterial $7/sq ft, Collector $6.5/sq ft, Residential $6/sq ft 

**Assumes $800 estimated cost to replace each ramp 

1https://www.lawrenceks.org/assets/mpo/pedplan/Lawrence2014SidewalkInventoryMemo.pdf 



44 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 
Figure 2.1: Missing Sidewalk on Local, Collector, and Arterial Streets 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, merchantability and fitness for or 
the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness 
for a particular purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 



 

 45 Lawrence 

 
Figure 2.2: Accessible Curb Ramps 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, merchantability and fitness for or 
the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness 
for a particular purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 



46 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Table 2.2: Arterial Streets Missing Sidewalk Estimated Costs 
 
       Missing Sidewalk Along Arterials found in Figure 2.1 on page 44 Tables 2.2 and 2.3 list engineering‐level cost estimates 

for constructing new sidewalks along arterial and 
collector streets. A handful of these projects have been 
planned, with money committed to their completion.  

Projects with asterisks in the “Planned” column are 
currently included in future year Capital Improvement 
Plan (CIP) budgets to be included in conjunction with 
road construction or reconstruction projects. 



 

 47 Lawrence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 2.3: Collector Streets Missing Sidewalk 
 
       Missing Sidewalk Along Collectors found in Figure 2.1 on page 44 



48 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

*When bicycle and pedestrian improvements were the main focus of the entire project, the entire project cost was included. New subdivision development improvements and private 
improvements were not included.  
*A 2013 shared use path project along Bob Billings Parkway between Kasold Drive and Engel Road was funded by both the City and KU  

Table 2.4a: 2009‐2015 City of Lawrence Capital Improvement Projects with Pedestrian Funding 

Table 2.4a displays capital improvement projects from 2009‐2015 
representing direct, line‐item costs for pedestrian facility 
improvements including: new concrete paths, ramps, intersection 
stop lines, parallel crosswalk lines, bike symbols, and sharrows. 
Table 2.4b shows capital improvements at the University of Kansas 
between 2012‐2015. Table 2.5 shows maintenance projects in the City 
of Lawrence that included pedestrian funding.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 49 Lawrence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 2.5: 2009‐2015 City of Lawrence Regular Maintenance Projects with Pedestrian Funding 

*When  bike‐ped  improvements were  part  of  a  larger  project,  only  the  facility  costs were  included  and  not  any 
associated costs such as street widening, mobilization, or movement of utilities.  
**Privately funded sidewalk maintenance is not tracked 
**Currently no state or federal funding includes pedestrian maintenance 
 

Table 2.4b: 2012‐2015 University of Kansas Capital Improvement Projects with Pedestrian Funding 

*Table 2.4a includes a 2013 shared project between the City and KU to fund a shared use path along Bob Billings Parkway between Kasold Drive and Engel Road 



50 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

Table 2.6 details the sources of funding for both capital 
improvement and maintenance costs. About 50.4% of the 
construction costs were funded through city funds from sales or 
property taxes. State/federal funds account for around 42.1% while 
county and private funds account for about 8.5%.  

Funding for Pedestrian Infrastructure in Lawrence 

Sidewalk Maintenance 

The current funding model for sidewalk maintenance places 
responsibility for all repairs on the adjacent property owner. The City 
of Lawrence administers repairs related to ADA accessibility, rights‐
of‐way, and recreational paths (Lawrence Code Chapter XVI, Article 
2).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If necessary, the city can use condemnation and special assessment 
proceedings to force property owners to comply with sidewalk 
repair requirements. Sidewalk repair is largely a complaint driven 
process as opposed to inspection driven, and currently results in a 
60% voluntary compliance rate. In current practice, city staff does 
not perform sidewalk repairs and does not pursue forced 
compliance by property owners.  

This sidewalk maintenance policy requires regular inspection and 
notification to ensure compliance. Cities such as Minneapolis, MN 
and Dubuque, MI have sidewalk inspection programs. In Dubuque, 
City staff inspect 10‐12 miles of sidewalk each year and notify 
abutting property owners if sidewalk repair is needed. The current 
condition of sidewalks in Lawrence suggests that the current policy 
does not result in compliance. If the City decides that strict 
enforcement is not feasible, alternative programs or ordinances 
should be developed. 

Table 2.6: Capital Improvement Project/General Maintenance Funding Methods by Year 

 



 

 51 Lawrence 

Alternative Sidewalk Maintenance Programs 

Alternative sidewalk maintenance programs were considered by the 
Pedestrian & Bicycle Issues Taskforce1  (PBITF). Table 2.7 summarizes 
approaches taken by some communities.  

Ongoing discussions among city staff have included consideration of 
enforcing Kansas state law, requiring property owners to pay for 
repairs. Policies may be developed for the City to make repairs and 
assess costs on property taxes or through a mortgage lien. 

New Sidewalk Construction and Other Infrastructure 
Improvements 

In addition to sidewalk maintenance and repair, a quality pedestrian 
system also relies on new improvements that enhance the 
pedestrian network. Currently, construction of new pedestrian 
infrastructure occurs at the same time as site redevelopment or 
roadway reconstruction. Federal, state, and private dollars have 
helped to fill sidewalk gaps along trails and within Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) eligible areas. CDBG funds must 
be used for activities that benefit low– and moderate‐income 
persons. There are many eligible activities including public 
improvements to sidewalks. Figure 2.3 on the following page 
identifies missing sidewalk and CDBG‐eligible areas.  

Improving the sidewalk infrastructure through these methods leads 
to  sporadic improvements with little continuity. It is possible that 
yearly funding from the City’s infrastructure sales tax may be 
earmarked for new pedestrian improvements. The Infrastructure 
Implementation Scenarios located at the end of this chapter identify 
a few ways to prioritize the construction of new pedestrian 
infrastructure.  

 

1 http://www.lawrenceks.org/boards/pedestrian‐bicycle‐issues‐task‐force 
 

Table 2.7: Alternative sidewalk maintenance programs 



52 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Figure 2.3: Missing Sidewalks and CDBG eligible areas 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, merchantability and fitness for or 
the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness 
for a particular purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 



 

 53 Lawrence 

Existing Pedestrian Network Design Grades 

Effective multimodal transportation planning needs to have a way to 
assess the current state of the pedestrian network as well as the 
impact of capital projects and land developments on the pedestrian 
experience. Applying a letter grade to segments of the pedestrian 
network includes measuring several factors that help to determine 
an area’s pedestrian friendliness. The current formula to measure 
pedestrian friendliness for Lawrence evaluates four factors which 
affect the pedestrian environment: Directness, Continuity, Safety,  
and Accessibility. These factors were chosen by considering 
methodologies of 14 other rating systems (Appendix B) as well as 
considering the time, resource, and data capabilities. Tables 2.8 and 
2.9 describe the scoring system. 

Pedestrian Network segments with sidewalks on both sides of the 
street and short block lengths tended to earn better letter grades 
unless they performed very poorly on the other three factors. In a 
similar way, segments that had no sidewalks on either side of the 
street and long block lengths tended to earn poorer letter grades 
unless they excelled in the other measurements. The following 6 
maps show each of the five measurements displayed separately and 
a final composite grade map.  

A limitation of this evaluation is the inability to measure sidewalk 
quality. Sidewalks with many defects are considered in the same 
way as newly built sidewalks. Thought should be given to how to 
include metrics of sidewalk quality in future Pedestrian Network 
Design scoring.   

Figures 2.4‐2.8 show each of the 5 measurements that contribute to 
the final Pedestrian Network Design score. Figure 2.9 shows the final 
score for each segment.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 2.8: Pedestrian Network Design Grade Measurements 

Table 2.9: Pedestrian Network Design Grade Scoring 



54 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

Figure 2.4: Lawrence Block Length 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, merchantability and fitness for or 
the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness 
for a particular purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

This map highlights 
arterials and subdivisions 
in the south and western 
portions of the city that 
offer pedestrians less‐than
‐desirable connectivity 
because of long block 
lengths. 



 

 55 Lawrence 

Figure 2.5: Lawrence Existing and Missing Sidewalk 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, merchantability and fitness for or 
the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness 
for a particular purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

This map displays how 
changes over time to 
sidewalk requirements 
have led to more streets 
without sidewalk on both 
sides of the road.  



56 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Figure 2.6: Lawrence Adjacent Speed to Sidewalk Segments 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, merchantability and fitness for or 
the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness 
for a particular purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

Large thoroughfares 
stand out as those with 
the highest speed traffic in 
town. It is worth noting 
that only a few 20mph 
streets exist west of Iowa 
Street. 



 

 57 Lawrence 

Figure 2.7: Lawrence Sidewalk Segments Within 100 Feet of Pedestrian Crash (2009‐2013) 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, merchantability and fitness for or 
the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness 
for a particular purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

Identified segments of 
sidewalks in this map are 
within 100 feet of 
pedestrian crash 
locations. These areas may 
require further analysis to 
determine what can be 
done to improve safety.  



58 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Figure 2.8: Lawrence Sidewalk Segments with Slope Greater than 8.3% 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, merchantability and fitness for or 
the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness 
for a particular purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

ADA guidelines require 
curb ramps to have slopes 
of no more than 8.3%. 
Applying that same 
standard to street 
segments in Lawrence 
identifies challenges near 
KU and in other small 
pockets of the city. 



 

 59 Lawrence 

 Figure 2.9: Lawrence Pedestrian Network Design Grades 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, merchantability and fitness for or 
the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness 
for a particular purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

Combining the data from 
each of the previous five 
maps results in this 
depiction of Pedestrian 
Network Design Grades. 
The current scoring 
system favors short blocks 
with available sidewalk on 
both sides of the street. 



60 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Implement the Safe Routes to 
Schools (SRTS) Program 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Safety, Health, Connectivity 

Proposed routes were developed during the SRTS planning process in 2014‐15 by reviewing 
student addresses, school boundaries, and possible 2.5 mile walking routes (the demarcation for 
bussing) from each school. City Commissioners should formally adopt the currently identified 
routes and define a process for amending future routes, in coordination with USD 497, that is 
responsive to boundary and/or network changes. The City should target resources to establish 
sidewalks on at least one side of every identified SRTS route, then pursue sidewalks on both sides 
of every SRTS route. 

In addition to routes, the SRTS initiative involves education and encouragement surrounding safe 
walking behavior. Students participate in in‐class education that covers pedestrian safety at 
intersections, crosswalks, and along the sidewalk. Walking routes specific to each school can be 
found on the Be Active Safe Routes website (http://ldchealth.org/347/Lawrence‐Schools). Also, 
students and parents are encouraged to participate in Walk to School Day in October. The 
Lawrence‐Douglas County Health Department, City staff, and USD 497 are continuing to develop a 
coordinated process to ensure long‐term viability of the SRTS initiative. 

 

Use Traffic Calming Devices to 
Improve Pedestrian Safety 

and Comfort  

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Safety 

Traffic calming devices should be installed to improve pedestrian safety and comfort. Pedestrians 
in crashes with motor vehicles traveling at a speed of 31 mph face a 50% risk of injury and nearly 
25% risk of death. Traffic calming should be installed in response to high crash locations, but also 
proactively to improve pedestrian safety and comfort in locations that may currently discourage 
pedestrian activity.  

 

Po
lic
ie
s 
an

d 
Pr
og

ra
m
s 

Recommendations 



 

 61 Lawrence 

 

 

Implement a Traffic Safety 
Campaign (Education & 

Enforcement) 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Safety 

Pedestrian safety is influenced by a number of factors, but can be improved by education for 
pedestrians, motorists, and consistent police enforcement. Education‐based police 
enforcement provides teachable moments with pedestrians, bicyclists, and motorists about 
the rules of the road, and may help prevent future crashes. Additional education through the 
school system and public events are other tools that the City of Lawrence could explore. 

For example, traffic safety information could be provided to students and the general public 
at the beginning of each school year through digital and paper means.  Also, the Lawrence 
Police Department could enforce failure to yield at crosswalks during walk to school/work 
week.  

Encourage Pedestrian Trips 
Through Wayfinding Signage 
and an Open Streets Event 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Health 

Encouragement is part of the Safe Routes to School program, but encouragement on a 
broader scale could empower pedestrians of all ages. City‐provided maps of walking routes, 
wayfinding signs, and programs driven by employer incentives are options for Lawrence to 
consider.  

Lawrence could begin work to identify locations for pedestrian wayfinding signs which offer 
direction and time‐based information. The Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
(MUTCD) has guidelines for community wayfinding signage.1 

Lawrence could also choose 1 day per year to implement an Open Streets event, restricting 
car traffic along a certain street or streets to encourage walking and bicycling.  

Po
lic
ie
s 
an

d 
Pr
og

ra
m
s 

Recommendations 

1 http://mutcd.fhwa.dot.gov/htm/2009/part2/part2d.htm 

 
 



62 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

 

Reduce Block Length 
Standards in Subdivision 

Design Regulations 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

Lawrence could benefit from adding design standards for new developments which reduces the 
maximum allowed block length to preserve a walkable and connected street network. Current 
code requires new subdivisions to build blocks no longer than 800 feet1. The Smart Growth 
Network’s Pedestrian and Transit Friendly Design Manual recommends block lengths of no more 
than 600 feet for average walkability. The City of Lawrence should consider changing subdivision 
design guidelines to require block lengths of 600 feet or less or require midblock pedestrian 
easements for blocks that exceed that length. Creating standards in the early stages of 
development review will help Lawrence to avoid the difficulty of retrofitting and acquiring right of 
way for pedestrian access.  

 

 

 

Form or Assign 
Responsibilities to an 
Advisory Committee 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

No current committee in Lawrence advises decision makers on pedestrian issues. An existing 
committee could be asked to take on that role or a new committee could be formed. The 
Pedestrian‐Bicycle Issues Task Force recommended the establishment of a holistic Transportation 
Commission which would consider transportation needs for pedestrians, bicyclists, and motorists 
equally. This Plan recommends that any future Transportation Commission should be responsible 
for advising decision makers on pedestrian issues. Any advisory group should help coordination 
with other modes of transportation.  

Po
lic
ie
s 
an

d 
Pr
og

ra
m
s 

Recommendations 

1 http://lawrenceks.org/assets/pds/planning/documents/DevCode.pdf  (pg 63) 



 

 63 Lawrence 

 

 

Apply for Walk Friendly 
Community Status1 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

Applying for this designation would provide Lawrence with a better understanding of where 
it currently thrives and falls short on national standards for pedestrian friendliness. While the 
staff time required to apply for this designation is significant, the results may offer the 
clearest illumination of where pedestrian issues persist.  

It is our understanding that work is underway to apply for Walk Friendly Community status 
during 2016.  

 

Track and Measure Progress of 
Lawrence’s Pedestrian 
Network, Amenities and 

Programming 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

It is important to understand the type, magnitude, and location of pedestrian improvements 
that are being implemented each year. The City should track miles of sidewalk construction 
and sidewalk gap infill, sidewalk maintenance, shared‐use path construction, installation of 
other pedestrian amenities, and results of education, encouragement, and enforcement 
campaigns. Tracking cost, location, and program data for pedestrian improvements  will 
demonstrate the progress Lawrence is making on the pedestrian environment and where 
more work still needs to be done to further address the region’s focus areas.  

 

Po
lic
ie
s 
an

d 
Pr
og

ra
m
s 

Recommendations 

1www.walkfriendly.org 



64 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

Enforce Current Sidewalk 
Repair Policy or Establish New 

Sidewalk Repair Program 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Safety, Equity 

The Pedestrian‐Bicycle Issues Task Force recommended that the City commit to establishing a 
sidewalk repair program by 2017 and provided five examples of programs in other cities. If a 
program cannot be decided upon by 2017, the City should consider stricter enforcement of 
current sidewalk maintenance policy which requires property owners to make needed repairs.  

 

 

Establish Dedicated Funding 
Source for Pedestrian 

improvements 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

The Pedestrian‐Bicycle Issues Task Force recommended that the City reallocate $500,000 per year 
in 2017‐2019 to fund pedestrian policy, program, or infrastructure changes, earmark 0.05% in the 
prospective 2019 renewal of the infrastructure sales tax to fund standalone pedestrian projects, 
and continue to invest in pedestrian facilities built during new road construction and existing road 
reconstruction projects. This Plan reinforces those recommendations, and proposes that this 
funding be used to make policy, program, and infrastructure changes recommended on pages 57‐
68 of this document. 

Po
lic
ie
s 
an

d 
Pr
og

ra
m
s 

Recommendations 



 

 65 Lawrence 

 

Coordinate with University 
Staffs on Pedestrian Policy and 

infrastructure Plans 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

The City of Lawrence, University of Kansas, and Haskell Indian Nations University could 
benefit from coordination during planning processes to improve the pedestrian experience 
for faculty, staff, and students. Pedestrians should be able to transition between City and 
university pedestrian networks seamlessly.  

 

Po
lic
ie
s 
an

d 
Pr
og

ra
m
s 

Recommendations 



66 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*These cost estimates do not include ADA curb ramps. Cost (residential only)  based on 5’ width and $6/sqft. Cost (arterial and collector only) based on engineering‐level cost estimate. Data compiled for the 
Pedestrian‐Bicycle Issues Task Force, 2016. http://lawrenceks.org/assets/boards/pedestrian‐bicycle/PedCostsSummary1.8.16.pdf 
**$1,000,000 additional is planned in 16‐18 CIP: Maintenance costs for SRTS are not removed from the other maintenance costs 
***$500,000 additional is planned in 16‐18 CIP 

 

 

Target Resources to the  
Priority Network 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Connectivity 

Target resources to priority pedestrian corridors that provide the most people with access to the 
most parts of town. These routes include arterial and collector streets as well as the Safe Routes to 
School Network. The Priority Network can be found in Figure 2.10 on the following page. Cost 
estimates for installing sidewalk on at least one side of every street along the Priority Network can 
be found in Table 2.10. Funding should be prioritized to complete these routes first, creating 
continuous, quality pedestrian facilities.  

* 

** 

*** 

Recommendations 
In
fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 

Table 2.10: Estimated costs to install missing sidewalk 



 

 67 Lawrence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2.10: Lawrence Pedestrian Priority Network 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, merchantability and fitness for or 
the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness 
for a particular purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 



68 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

 

Target Resources to Non‐
Existing and Non‐Compliant 

ADA Ramps 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Equity 

The City currently has 256 locations where no ADA‐compliant curb ramp exists. Targeting resources 
to constructing ramps at those locations would be an important step in meeting the goals of 
Lawrence’s ADA Transition Plan, first drafted in 1992. There are also many non‐ADA compliant 
ramps in areas of town with high pedestrian activity. These locations should be prioritized after the 
City meets the goal of providing ramps where none currently exists. Table 2.11 lists the current 
status of ADA ramp compliance in Lawrence and associated costs for bringing these ramps into 
compliance. 

Recommendations 
In
fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 

Table 2.11: ADA Ramps on Lawrence Sidewalk Network 

N/A 



 

 69 Lawrence 

Figure 2.11: ADA Ramps 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, merchantability and fitness for or 
the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness 
for a particular purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 



70 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Target Resources to High‐
Demand Transit Corridors 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Multimodal Connections 

Prioritize improvements within targeted transit corridors (6th Street, 19th Street, 23rd Street, 
Naismith Drive) and fill gaps in sidewalks, make bus stop improvements, crosswalk improvements, 
and limit conflict points with motor vehicles. Figure 2.12 shows the four corridors identified through 
the Fixed‐Route Transit and Pedestrian Accessibility Study. The estimated costs in Table 2.12 are to 
complete all recommended improvements listed in the Study. A complete line‐item list of projects 
and costs can be found in Appendix C.  

Recommendations 
In
fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 

Table 2.12: High‐Demand Transit Corridors Total Cost Estimates 



 

 71 Lawrence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2.12: High‐Demand Transit Corridors 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, merchantability and fitness for or 
the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness 
for a particular purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 



72 

 

Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Lawrence Conclusion 

Pedestrian improvements in Lawrence currently occur as the City 
responds to complaints and when roadways are repaired and 
constructed. Sidewalk gaps are filled with CDBG funding in eligible 
areas. Figure 2.3 shows the gaps and missing links that are within 
the CDBG eligible areas. Only some of Lawrence neighborhoods are 
eligible for CDBG funding, and these funds cannot be used for 
maintenance. This leads to a fragmented network with no clear goal 
or system‐wide vision.  

The recommendations in this document aim to focus investment in 
pedestrian infrastructure so that the network is less fragmented. 
These recommendations are not mutually exclusive and can be 
implemented incrementally as funding becomes available. City 
officials should consider using tools found in the Pedestrian Progress 
Toolbox section on pages 14—19 to achieve one or more of these 
recommendations.  

While funding is limited, yearly improvements help improve the 
system by bringing existing facilities into compliance with current 
standards, and providing programming, education, and policy 
changes that can lead to more people choosing to walk. The 
ultimate goal is to have a complete citywide system of quality 
pedestrian infrastructure paired with policies and programs that 
encourage more people to walk. Measured progress towards this 
will continue to support overall walkability and economic 
development opportunities throughout  Lawrence. 

 



 

Eudora   73 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Background 
 

Located 10 minutes East of Lawrence and 15 minutes West of the 
Kansas City metropolitan area, Eudora is home to 6,500 residents. Its 
unique location offers residents the opportunity to live close to the 
amenities of a university community as well as a large city while still 
retaining a small town atmosphere. Eudora’s elementary, middle, 
and high school make it an  attractive place to raise a family.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table of Contents 

Existing Infrastructure      74 

Funding            78 

Policy and Program         
Recommendations        80 

Infrastructure Recommendations  82 

Conclusion          84 

 

Eudora 

Eudora 

D
ou

gl
as
 C
ou

nt
y 



 

 74  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Existing Pedestrian Infrastructure ‐ Eudora 
 
In 2014, MPO staff walked all sidewalks locations within Eudora and 
recorded defects as they encountered them. Staff inventoried the 
sidewalks for the following defects: 

          Vertical deflections <1”     Manholes     
          Vertical deflections >1”     Missing sidewalk 
          Horizontal gaps  Gaps 
          Tree roots     No ADA ramp exists 
          Cross slope  ADA ramp compliant 
          Brick resets  ADA ramp non‐compliant 
 
A map of this inventory can be found in Figure 3.1, and photo 
examples of defects can be found in Appendix A.  

Findings 
Maintenance 

Maintenance includes the repair of existing sidewalk defects as well 
as replacing missing panels within a continuous sidewalk. The cost to 
repair existing sidewalk defects throughout Eudora is estimated at 
$175,830. Estimates do not include ancillary costs such as tree 
removal or utility relocation. Detailed sidewalk defect information 
can be found in Table 3.1.  

Ramps 

The inventory identified 144 ADA compliant ramps, 166 which were 
not ADA complaint, and 615 locations where no ramp exists. The 
average cost to construct an ADA compliant ramp is $800. The 
estimated cost to install or repair ramps on existing sidewalks is 
$624,800. This estimate does not include ramps to be added to 

newly constructed sidewalk where no sidewalk currently exists.  
Complete ramp information can be found in Table 3.2. 

Missing Sidewalk 

The estimated cost for installing missing sidewalk on at least one 
side of every street in Eudora is $2.3 million. The estimated cost for 
installing sidewalk on both sides of every street in Eudora is $5.6 
million. These estimates do not include the previously discussed 
costs of ramp construction or maintenance to existing sidewalks. A 
map of missing sidewalks is shown on the following page. Complete 
missing sidewalk costs can be found in Table 3.3.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Table 3.1: Eudora Sidewalk Defects (2014 Sidewalk Inventory) 



 

Eudora   75 

 

Table 3.3: Eudora Sidewalk Cost Summary 

Table 3.2: ADA Ramps on Eudora Sidewalk Network 



 

 76  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 3.1: Eudora Sidewalk Defects (2014 Sidewalk Inventory)  Figure 3.2: Eudora Missing Sidewalk Segments (2014 Sidewalk Inventory) 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 



 

Eudora   77 

Figure 3.3: Eudora ADA Ramps (2014 Sidewalk Inventory)  Figure 3.4: Eudora Tree or Brush Clearance (2014 Sidewalk Inventory) 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 



 

 78  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Funding for Pedestrian Infrastructure in Eudora 
 

Sidewalk Maintenance 

Eudora’s city code for sidewalk maintenance states “The total cost 
of all sidewalks or pedestrian way improvements shall be borne by 
the property benefitted by the improvement1.”  

This sidewalk maintenance policy requires regular inspection and 
notification to ensure compliance. The current condition of 
sidewalks as shown in Figures 3.1 and 3.2 suggests that the existing 
policy is not creating a compliant sidewalk network. If the City of 
Eudora determines that enforcement of this policy is not feasible, 
alternative programs or ordinances should be explored. 

Alternative Sidewalk Maintenance Programs 

Alternatives to the current policy could be to have the City of Eudora 
take over maintenance responsibilities or develop a cost‐sharing 
model where property owners and the City each pay a certain 
amount to maintain or build sidewalks. To generate revenue for this 
policy change, the city could increase sales tax or property tax. It 
was determined that a monthly sidewalk utility fee would not be 
legal in Kansas. Table 3.4 demonstrates how much funding could be 
generated from different levels of taxes. 

 

 

1 http://eudoraks.citycode.net/index.html#!articleSidewalkConstruction 
2 $255,532 is the average sales tax generated in Eudora from 2008—2014 

Table 3.5: Eudora Capital Improvements 

Table 3.4: Eudora Funding Generation by Tax Type 

2 



 

Eudora   79 

New Sidewalk Construction and Other Infrastructure 
Improvements 

In addition to sidewalk maintenance and repair, a quality pedestrian 
system also relies on new improvements that enhance the 
pedestrian network. Currently, construction of new public 
pedestrian infrastructure has occurred by leveraging property tax 
revenue, school funds, and private grants. Table 3.5 lists public 
capital improvement projects in Eudora since 2013. City code states 
that “Public sidewalks shall be installed on one side of all local 
residential streets and on both sides of all other streets, unless such 
installation is specifically waived by the governing body1.”  

Improving the sidewalk infrastructure through these methods leads 
to  sporadic improvements with little continuity. The Infrastructure 
Implementation Scenarios located at the end of this chapter identify 
a few ways to prioritize the construction of new pedestrian 
infrastructure.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1 http://eudoraks.citycode.net/index.html#!articleSidewalkConstruction 



 

 80  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Continue to Seek Funding for 
the Safe Routes to School 

(SRTS) Program 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Safety, Health 

The City of Eudora applied for but did not receive, SRTS Phase I funding in 2012. This funding 
would have been used for evaluating implementation options, engaging in public participation, 
and producing the final project report. However, the City should continue to pursue this funding 
which could significantly improve the pedestrian environment for kids attending one of the three 
schools in Eudora. This funding could be used for education, encouragement programs, and 
infrastructure.  

 
Encourage Pedestrian Trips 
Through Participation in 

National Walk to School Day 
and Other Strategies 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Health 

Teachers can encourage students to walk to school, and encouragement on a broader scale could 
empower pedestrians of all ages. The City, in coordination with the school district, could 
participate in National Walk to School Day, a global event that involves communities from over 40 
countries walking and biking to school on the same day. City‐provided maps of walking routes, 
wayfinding signs, and programs driven by employer incentives are options for Eudora to consider.  

 
 

Adopt Design Standards and 
Policies that Result in 
Pedestrian‐Friendly 

Development 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

The Pedestrian Progress Toolbox on pages 14‐19 contains site design guidelines, engineering 
standards, and policies that can lead to a safe and comfortable pedestrian environment. Eudora 
could benefit from adopting guidelines to ensure the pedestrian network is built thoughtfully. 
Early adoption of standards and policies on setbacks, block length, and sidewalk maintenance are 
a few ways Eudora can help to prevent the need to retrofit street and sidewalk connections at a 
later date, and often a higher cost. Many other standard and policy ideas can be found in the 
toolbox on pages 14‐19. 

Po
lic
ie
s 
an

d 
Pr
og

ra
m
s 

Recommendations 



 

Eudora   81 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Use Traffic Calming Devices to 
Improve Pedestrian Safety and 
Comfort at Locations with Real 

and Perceived Risk 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Safety 

Traffic calming devices should be installed to improve pedestrian safety and comfort at 
historical crash locations as well as locations of perceived risk that deter pedestrians from 
walking in the area, such as Church Street north and south of K‐10. Pedestrians in crashes 
with motor vehicles traveling at a speed of 31 mph face a 50% risk of injury and nearly 25% risk 
of death. Traffic calming should be installed in response to high crash locations, but also 
proactively to improve pedestrian safety and comfort in locations that may currently 
discourage pedestrian activity.  

 

Track and Measure Progress of 
Lawrence’s Pedestrian 
Network, Amenities and 

Programming 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

It is important to understand the type, magnitude, and location of pedestrian improvements 
that are being implemented each year. The City should track miles of sidewalk construction 
and sidewalk gap infill, sidewalk maintenance, shared‐use path construction, installation of 
other pedestrian amenities, and results of education, encouragement, and enforcement 
campaigns. Tracking cost, location, and program data for pedestrian improvements  will 
demonstrate the progress Lawrence is making on the pedestrian environment and where 
more work still needs to be done to further address the region’s focus areas.  

 

Develop an ADA Transition Plan 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

Each public agency with more than 50 employees is required by law to have a transition plan 
which details how this agency will come into compliance with the Americans with Disabilities 
Act. The Act requires that public agencies with more than 50 employees provide access to all 
programs and services offered.  The City of Eudora is nearing that threshold. To avoid future 
legal concerns and formally address a plan for mobility access, the City should develop an 
ADA Transition Plan. 

Po
lic
ie
s 
an

d 
Pr
og

ra
m
s 

Recommendations 



 

 82  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

1 Planning‐level cost estimates based on 5’ sidewalk width and $6/sqft. Engineering‐level estimates may reveal site‐specific costs such as tree removal, utility relocation, etc. 

 

 

Target Resources to the  
Priority Network 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Connectivity 

Target resources to priority pedestrian corridors that provide the most people with access to the 
most parts of town, particularly to schools, grocery stores, and other landmark destinations. The 
Priority Network can be found in Figure 3.5. Cost estimates for installing sidewalk on at least one 
side of every street along the Priority Network can be found in Table 3.6. Funding should be 
prioritized to complete these routes first, creating continuous, quality pedestrian facilities.  

Certain segments of identified SRTS routes may overlap or differ from the Priority Network. These 
two methods for prioritizing routes need not be mutually exclusive, as the City could pursue 
completion of both concurrently.  

A separated pedestrian‐bicycle facility to cross K‐10 has been discussed by KDOT and City of Eudora 
officials as a potential solution to encourage travel by foot or bike to the middle and high school 
south of the highway.  Alignment for the proposed facility in Figure 3.5 was chosen by consulting a 
similar alignment in the Eudora Parks and Recreation Master Plan that lists a future recreational 
trail at this location. At this time, no funding has been identified to pursue design or construction of 

Recommendations 
In
fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 

Table 3.6: Eudora Priority Routes Estimated Costs1 



 

Eudora   83 

Figure 3.5: Eudora Priority Network 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

Separated pedestrian‐bicycle 
bridge or tunnel. Alignment 
not final. 



 

 84  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Eudora Conclusion 
Pedestrian improvements in the city of Eudora currently occur as the 
as roadways are repaired and constructed, and grants are 
sometimes identified to fund standalone projects. This leads to a 
fragmented network with no clear goal or system‐wide vision.  

The recommendations in this document aim to focus investment in 
pedestrian infrastructure so that the network is less fragmented. 
These recommendations are not mutually exclusive and can be 
implemented incrementally as funding becomes available. City 
officials should consider using tools found in the Pedestrian Progress 
Toolbox section on pages 14—19 to achieve one or more of these 
recommendations.  

This Pedestrian Plan is an important document because it enables 
city staff to make consistent decisions to improve the pedestrian 
environment. It sets the stage for policy discussion regarding 
sidewalk requirements, helps protect streets with developed 
pedestrian infrastructure, and prioritizes streets with 
underdeveloped pedestrian infrastructure for upgrades. This Plan 
will be incorporated into the regional long‐range transportation 
plan, T2040, during the update in 2017.  

While funding is limited, yearly improvements help improve the 
system by bringing existing facilities into compliance with current 
standards, and providing programming, education, and policy 
changes that can lead to more people choosing to walk. The 
ultimate goal is to have a complete citywide system of quality 
pedestrian infrastructure paired with policies and programs that 
encourage more people to walk. Measured progress towards this 
will continue to support overall walkability and economic 
development opportunities throughout  Eudora. 



 85 

 

Baldwin City 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Background 
 

Home to 4,500 residents and Baker University, Baldwin City began 
as a stop on the historic Santa Fe Trail.  Rich railroad history and the 
popular Maple Leaf Festival have brought visitors from across the 
area to enjoy a comfortable stroll down its quiet brick streets. 
Located a half hour from Lawrence and less than an hour from 
Kansas City, Baldwin City residents can take advantage of nearby 
metropolitan areas while maintaining small‐town charm.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table of Contents 

Existing Infrastructure      86 

Funding            89 

Policy and Program 
Recommendations        90 

Infrastructure Recommendations  92 

Conclusion          95 

 

Baldwin City 

Baldwin City 

D
ou

gl
as
 C
ou

nt
y 



 

86  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Existing Pedestrian Infrastructure ‐ Baldwin City 
 

In 2014, MPO staff walked and/or drove all sidewalks within the city 
and recorded defects as they encountered them. Staff inventoried 
the sidewalks for the following defects: 

          Vertical deflections <1”     Manholes     
          Vertical deflections >1”     Missing sidewalk 
          Horizontal gaps  Gaps 
          Tree roots     No ADA ramp exists 
          Cross slope  ADA ramp compliant 
          Brick resets  ADA ramp non‐compliant 
 
A map of this inventory can be found in Figure 4.1, and photo 
examples of defects can be found in Appendix A.  
 
Findings 
 
Maintenance 

Maintenance includes the repair of existing sidewalk defects as well 
as replacing missing panels within a continuous sidewalk. The cost 
to repair existing sidewalk defects throughout Baldwin City is 
estimated at $238,650. This estimated cost assumes 5’ width and $6 
per square foot. Estimates do not include ancillary costs such as tree 
removal or utility relocation. Further maintenance information can 
be found in Table 4.1, and Figure 4.1 shows the location of defects 
throughout town. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 4.1: Baldwin City Sidewalk Defects  
(2014 Sidewalk Inventory) 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 



 87 

 

Baldwin City 

 

 

 

 

 

Ramps 

The inventory identified 132 ADA compliant ramps, 88 which were 
not ADA complaint, and 630 locations where no ramp exists. The 
average cost to construct an ADA compliant ramp is $800. The 
estimated cost to install or repair ramps on existing sidewalks is 
$574,400. This estimate does not include ramps to be added to 
newly constructed sidewalk where no sidewalk currently exists.  
Complete ramp information can be found in Table 4.2. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Table 4.1 : Baldwin City Sidewalk Defects (2014)  Figure 4.2: Baldwin City ADA Ramps 
(2014 Sidewalk Inventory) 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

Table 4.2: Baldwin City ADA Ramps (Sidewalk Inventory 2014) 



 

88  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Missing Sidewalk 

Baldwin City has 256,599 linear feet of missing sidewalk. The 
estimated cost for installing sidewalk on both sides of every street is 
$7.7 million. These estimates do not include the previously discussed 
costs of ramp construction or maintenance to existing sidewalks. A 
map of missing sidewalks is shown in Figure 4.3.   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Figure 4.3: Baldwin City Missing Sidewalk Segments 
(2014 Sidewalk Inventory) 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 



 89 

 

Baldwin City 

Funding for Pedestrian Infrastructure in         
Baldwin City 

 
Sidewalk Maintenance 
The current city code for sidewalk maintenance states that “it shall 
be the duty of the owner of the abutting property to keep the 
sidewalk in repair, but the city may, after giving 15 days’ notice to 
the owner”, make all necessary repairs and assess the cost to the 
property taxes of the abutting owner1.  

This sidewalk maintenance policy requires regular city inspection 
and notification to ensure compliance. The current condition  of 
sidewalks, as shown in Figures 4.1 and 4.2, suggests that the existing 
policy is not creating a compliant sidewalk network. If the City of 
Baldwin City determines that enforcement of this policy is not 
feasible, alternative programs or ordinances should be explored. 

Alternative Sidewalk Maintenance Programs 

Alternatives to the current policy could be to have the City of 
Baldwin City take over maintenance responsibilities or develop a 
cost‐sharing model where property owners and the City each pay a 
certain amount to maintain or build sidewalks. To generate revenue 
for this policy change, the city could increase sales tax or property 
tax. Table 4.3 demonstrates how much funding could be generated 
from different levels of taxes.  

 

 

 
 
 

New Sidewalk Construction and Other Infrastructure 
Improvements 
 
In addition to sidewalk maintenance and repair, a quality pedestrian 
system also relies on new improvements that enhance the 
pedestrian network. Currently, construction of new pedestrian 
infrastructure are funded out of the City’s General Fund, but in some 
cases, the City is able to obtain grant funding through KDOT or 
foundations. Recent pedestrian capital improvement projects 
include the shared use path leading from 11th Street to Baldwin 
Elementary School and a shared use path connecting the train depot 
to Women’s Bridge Park.  

Improving the sidewalk infrastructure through these methods leads 
to  sporadic improvements with little continuity. The Infrastructure 
Implementation Scenarios located at the end of this chapter identify 
a few ways to prioritize the construction of new pedestrian 
infrastructure.  

 
 
 
 

Table 4.3: Baldwin City Funding Generation by Tax Type 

1 http://baldwincity.citycode.net/index.html#!articleSidewalks 



 

90  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

Encourage Pedestrian Trips 
Through Participation in 

National Walk to School Day 
and Other Strategies 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Health 

Teachers can encourage students to walk to school, and encouragement on a broader scale could 
empower pedestrians of all ages. The City, in coordination with the school district, could 
participate in National Walk to School Day, a global event that involves communities from over 40 
countries walking and biking to school on the same day. City‐provided maps of walking routes, 
wayfinding signs, and programs driven by employer incentives are options for Baldwin City to 
consider.  

 
Consider Applying for Safe 
Routes to School (SRTS) 

Program Funding 

Focus areas addressed: Safety, Health 
 
The City of Baldwin City could benefit from identifying safe walking routes for children to reach 
one of the 4 schools in town as well as education and encouragement programs to empower 
more pedestrian trips from home to school. 

 

Adopt Design Standards and 
Policies that Result in 
Pedestrian‐Friendly 

Development 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

The Pedestrian Progress Toolbox on pages 14‐19 contains site design guidelines, engineering 
standards, and policies that can lead to a safe and comfortable pedestrian environment. Baldwin 
City could benefit from adopting guidelines to ensure the pedestrian network is built thoughtfully. 
Early adoption of standards and policies on setbacks, block length, and sidewalk maintenance are 
a few ways Baldwin City can help to prevent the need to retrofit street and sidewalk connections 
at a later date, and often a higher cost. Many other standard and policy ideas can be found in the 
toolbox on pages 14‐19. 

Po
lic
ie
s 
an

d 
Pr
og

ra
m
s 

Recommendations 



 91 

 

Baldwin City 

 

Use Traffic Calming Devices to 
Improve Pedestrian Safety and 
Comfort at Locations with Real 

and Perceived Risk 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Safety 

Traffic calming devices should be installed to improve pedestrian safety and comfort at 
historical crash locations as well as locations of perceived risk that deter pedestrians from 
walking in the area, such as Church Street north and south of K‐10. Pedestrians in crashes 
with motor vehicles traveling at a speed of 31 mph face a 50% risk of injury and nearly 25% risk 
of death. Traffic calming should be installed in response to high crash locations, but also 
proactively to improve pedestrian safety and comfort in locations that may currently 
discourage pedestrian activity.  

 

Track and Measure Progress of 
Lawrence’s Pedestrian 
Network, Amenities and 

Programming 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

It is important to understand the type, magnitude, and location of pedestrian improvements 
that are being implemented each year. The City should track miles of sidewalk construction 
and sidewalk gap infill, sidewalk maintenance, shared‐use path construction, installation of 
other pedestrian amenities, and results of education, encouragement, and enforcement 
campaigns. Tracking cost, location, and program data for pedestrian improvements  will 
demonstrate the progress Lawrence is making on the pedestrian environment and where 
more work still needs to be done to further address the region’s focus areas.  

Po
lic
ie
s 
an

d 
Pr
og

ra
m
s 

Recommendations 



 

92  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Target Resources to the  
Priority Network 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Connectivity 

Target resources to priority pedestrian corridors that provide the most people with access to the 
most parts of town, particularly to schools, grocery stores, and other landmark destinations. The 
Priority Network can be found in Figure 3.5. Cost estimates for installing sidewalk on at least one 
side of every street along the Priority Network can be found in Table 4.4. Funding should be 
prioritized to complete these routes first, creating continuous, quality pedestrian facilities.  

Through community outreach and an online survey in April 2016, Baldwin City residents identified a 
few key locations as priorities.  Several respondents identified Highway 56 as a barrier that 
discouraged walking because of limited crossings and high vehicle speed, especially for those living 
North of the highway attempting to access the main core of the city. Preliminary plans for a 
reconstruction of Highway 56 from Eisenhower to 1st Street indicate new sidewalk installation on 
both sides of the street. Additional crossing improvements were not identified with this project at 
the time of publication of this plan. Many respondents spoke of the isolation felt by pocket 
communities on the north, southwest, and east sides of town. School routes, State Lake Road 
leading to Douglas State Lake, 11th Street, and improved East/West connectivity were also 
mentioned as potential priorities.  

Certain segments of identified SRTS routes may overlap or differ from the Priority Network. These 
two methods for prioritizing routes need not be mutually exclusive, as the City could pursue 
completion of both concurrently.  

Recommendations 
In
fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 

Table 4.4: Baldwin City Priority Network Estimated Costs 



 93 

 

Baldwin City 

 
 
 
 

 
Figure 4.4: Baldwin City Priority Network 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, 
merchantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the 
requester.  The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of 
the map.  There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular 
purpose.  The requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including 
the fact that the map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and 
update. 



 

94  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

 

Pursue Shared Use Path 
Connection to the Prairie 

Spirit Trail 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Connectivity 

The Prairie Spirit Trail is a 52‐mile shared use path for pedestrians and bicyclists running along an 
old railway that connects Ottawa to Humboldt. The Midland Railroad runs southwest out of 
Baldwin City to Ottawa and terminates near the trailhead for the Prairie Spirit Trail. Figure 4.5 
shows the alignment of this railroad. 

Work is currently being done by the Baldwin City Economic Development Corporation to obtain the 
necessary easement from the Midland Railroad to accommodate a shared use pedestrian and 
bicycle path. The EDC is also working to identify funding for the construction of the trail along the 
20‐mile route. This plan recommends continued efforts to establish this connection, which could be 
a wonderful amenity for pedestrians in the region.  

Recommendations 
In
fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 



 95 

 

Baldwin City 

 

 
 
 

Baldwin City Conclusion 
 

Pedestrian improvements in Baldwin City currently occur as the as 
roadways are repaired and constructed, and grants are sometimes 
identified to fund standalone projects. This leads to a fragmented 
network with no clear goal or system‐wide vision.  

The recommendations in this document aim to focus investment in 
pedestrian infrastructure so that the network is less fragmented. 
These recommendations are not mutually exclusive and can be 
implemented incrementally as funding becomes available. City 
officials should consider using tools found in the Pedestrian Progress 
Toolbox section on pages 14—19 to achieve one or more of these 
recommendations.  

The Pedestrian Plan is an important document because it enables 
city staff to make consistent decisions that affect the pedestrian 
realm in a positive way. It sets the stage for policy discussion 
regarding sidewalk requirements, helps protect streets with 
developed pedestrian infrastructure, and prioritizes streets with 
underdeveloped pedestrian infrastructure for upgrades. This Plan 
will be incorporated into the regional long‐range transportation 
plan, T2040, during the update in 2017. 

While funding is limited, yearly improvements help improve the 
system by bringing existing facilities into compliance with current 
standards, and providing programming, education, and policy 
changes that can lead to more people choosing to walk. The 
ultimate goal is to have a complete citywide system of quality 
pedestrian infrastructure paired with policies and programs that 
encourage more people to walk. Measured progress towards this 
will continue to support overall walkability and economic 
development opportunities throughout  Baldwin City. 

Baldwin City 

Ottawa 

Figure 4.5: Prairie Spirit Trail Connection 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 
The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

Midland 
Railroad 

Midland 
Railroad 



 

96  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

This page intentionally left blank 



 

Lecompton   97 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Background 
 

Located at the northern edge of Douglas County, historic Lecompton 
is home to just over 600 people. With low traffic volumes and 
intermittent sidewalks, many pedestrians simply walk in the street. 
Woodson and Elmore streets are home to destinations such as the 
Lecompton Historical Museum, Aunt Netter’s Café, and Constitution 
Hall. These two streets boast the largest percentage of sidewalk in 
town, with large portions of brick sidewalk.  

However, some sidewalks throughout town have fallen into disrepair, 
and large sidewalk gaps remain. In the community of Lecompton, 
sidewalks on both sides of every street may not necessarily be the 
goal. Many streets that do not have sidewalk, curb and gutter 
contribute to the rural atmosphere of the community, and walking in 
the street may be a reasonably safe way to get around town most of 
the time. Instead, priorities may need to be focused on a few targeted 
projects that meet local needs and encourage residents and visitors 
to walk through the community.  

 
 

 

Table of Contents 

Existing Infrastructure      98 

Funding            100 

Policy and Program  
Recommendations        102 

Infrastructure Recommendations  104 

Conclusion          109 

 

Lecompton 

Lecompton 

D
ou

gl
as
 C
ou

nt
y 



 

98  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Existing Pedestrian Infrastructure ‐ Lecompton 
In 2015, MPO staff walked and/or drove all streets within Lecompton 
to record sidewalk defects and missing sidewalk. Staff inventoried 
the sidewalks for the following defects:  

          Vertical deflections <1”     Manholes     
          Vertical deflections >1”     Missing sidewalk 
          Horizontal gaps  Gaps 
          Tree roots     No ADA ramp exists 
          Cross slope  ADA ramp compliant 
          Brick resets  ADA ramp non‐compliant 
 
A map of this inventory can be found in Figure 5.1, and photo 
examples of defects can be found in Appendix A. 

Findings 
 
Maintenance 

Maintenance includes the repair of existing sidewalk defects as well 
as replacing missing panels within a continuous sidewalk. The cost 
to repair existing sidewalk defects throughout Lecompton is 
estimated at $48,000 based on a planning‐level estimate of 
constructing a 5‐foot wide concrete sidewalk at $6 per square foot. 
Estimates do not include ancillary costs such as tree removal or 
utility relocation. Also, constructing sidewalk with brick instead of 
concrete increases cost by 1.5 times. 

Ramps 

The inventory identified 3 ADA compliant ramps, 5 which were not 
ADA compliant, and 15 locations where no ramp exists. The average 
cost to construct an ADA compliant ramp is $800. The estimated 
cost to install or repair ramps on existing sidewalks is $18,400. This 

estimate does not include ramps to be added to newly constructed 
sidewalk where no sidewalk currently exists. Further ramp 
information can be found in Table 5.1.  

 

 

 

 

 

Missing Sidewalk 

The cost to install sidewalks on every street in Lecompton likely 
outweigh the benefits to be gained from such action.  The streets 
that experience the highest volume of pedestrian, bike, and motor 
vehicle traffic are Woodson, Elmore, and Whitfield. The estimated 
cost for installing missing sidewalk on at least one side of these 
streets can be found in Table 5.2. These estimates do not include the 
costs of ramp construction, maintenance to existing sidewalks, or 
ancillary costs such as tree removal or utility relocation. 

 
 
 
 
 

Table 5.2: Lecompton Estimated Sidewalk Cost on Woodson, 
Elmore, and Whitfield 

Table 5.1: Lecompton ADA Ramps (2015 Sidewalk Inventory) 



 

Lecompton   99 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Figure 5.1: Lecompton Sidewalk Defects (2015 Sidewalk Inventory)  Figure 5.2: Lecompton Missing Sidewalk (2015 Sidewalk Inventory) 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 

The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 

The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 



 

100  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 
 
 

Funding for Pedestrian Infrastructure in 
Lecompton 

 
Sidewalk Maintenance 
 
The City of Lecompton does not currently have a policy in place for 
sidewalk maintenance. In that case, Kansas State statute would 
apply which states “the responsibility for sidewalk maintenance falls 
upon the adjacent property owner. “ 

Alternative Sidewalk Maintenance Programs 

Alternatives to the current policy could be to have the City of 
Lecompton take over maintenance responsibilities or develop a cost
‐sharing model where property owners and the City each pay a 
certain amount to maintain or build sidewalks. To generate revenue 
for this policy change, the city could increase sales tax or property 
taxes. Table 5.3 demonstrates how much funding could be 
generated from different levels of taxes. While the years required to 
raise $1 million may seem unrealistically high, this does provide 
context for seeking matching funds using local fundraising tools. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 5.3: Lecompton ADA Ramps (2015 Sidewalk Inventory) 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 

The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 

Table 5.3: Lecompton Annual $ Generation by Tax Type 



 

Lecompton   101 

New Sidewalk Construction and Other Infrastructure 
Improvements 
 
In addition to sidewalk maintenance and repair, a quality pedestrian 
system also relies on new improvements that enhance the 
pedestrian network. The City of Lecompton has never had a 
standalone sidewalk or pedestrian infrastructure project. In 2014, 
repairs were made to an existing brick sidewalk using revenue from 
the City’s General Fund.  

Competing priorities for limited funds restrict Lecompton’s ability to 
improve the sidewalk network through standalone pedestrian 
infrastructure projects. The Infrastructure Implementation Scenarios 
located at the end of this chapter offer a few potential pedestrian 
projects that would create targeted enhancements in the 
community.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

102  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Encourage Pedestrian Trips 
Through Participation in 

National Walk to School Day 
and Other Strategies 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Health 

Lecompton is home to a cozy downtown and historic landmarks such as Constitution Hall and the 
Lecompton Museum, all wonderful places to visit on foot. Teachers can encourage students to 
walk to school, and encouragement on a broader scale could empower pedestrians of all ages. 
The City, in coordination with the school district, could participate in National Walk to School Day, 
a global event that involves communities from over 40 countries walking and biking to school on 
the same day. City‐provided maps of walking routes may be an option for Lecompton to consider.  

 

Adopt Design Standards and 
Policies that Result in 
Pedestrian‐Friendly 

Development 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: All 

The Pedestrian Progress Toolbox on pages 14‐19 contains site design guidelines, engineering 
standards, and policies that can lead to a safe and comfortable pedestrian environment. 
Lecompton could benefit from adopting guidelines to ensure the pedestrian network is built 
thoughtfully. Early adoption of standards and policies on setbacks, block length, and sidewalk 
maintenance are a few ways Lecompton can help to prevent the need to retrofit street and 
sidewalk connections at a later date, and often a higher cost. Many other standard and policy 
ideas can be found in the toolbox on pages 14‐19. 

Po
lic
ie
s 
an

d 
Pr
og

ra
m
s 

Recommendations 



 

Lecompton   103 

   



 

104  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Target Resources to the  
Historic Loop (0.4 miles) 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Connectivity 

This route would connect pedestrians to three of Lecompton’s top landmarks: The Lecompton 
Museum, Constitution Hall, and Downtown. Constructing and maintaining this path would create 
an opportunity for residents and visitors to enjoy Lecompton on foot. The estimated cost to install 
sidewalk on at least one side of the Historic Loop is $16,680. This estimate assumes 5 foot width 
and $6 per square foot. It does not include any right‐of‐way purchase that would be needed for a 
midblock connection between Halderman and Elmore streets nor does it include site‐specific costs 
such as tree removal, utility relocation, etc. 

Recommendations 
In
fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 



 

Lecompton   105 

Figure 5.4: Lecompton Historic Loop 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 

The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 



 

106  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

 

 

Target Resources to the  
Grand Loop (1.6 miles) 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Health, Connectivity, Safety 

Through community discussion at Aunt Netter’s and an online survey in May 2016, citizens of 
Lecompton identified a few key locations as priorities. A popular route for pedestrians is a 1.6‐mile 
loop bounded by Woodson to the North, 7th Street to the South, Whitfield to the West, and 
Eisenhower Drive to the East. The Grand Loop would prioritize sidewalks on at least one side of all 
streets on this route. In addition, a short connection from Eisenhower Dr. to the end of Boone 
Street would increase safety for walkers by steering them away from the busy highway to a low‐
traffic city street. The existing 275‐foot gap is highlighted in Figure 5.5.   

Another identified concern is the 7th Street hill leading from Eisenhower Drive toward the 
elementary school. School children and other pedestrians often walk in the street along this 
stretch while drivers climb the hill toward the elementary school. Sunlight coming over this hill can 
obscure the vision of drivers, making it difficult to see pedestrians along this stretch of road at 
certain times of day. A sidewalk on this part of the Grand Loop would greatly increase safety for 
both pedestrians and drivers.  

The estimated cost to install sidewalk on at least one side of the Grand Loop is  $142,080 assuming 
5 foot width and $6 per square foot. This estimate does not include a possible right‐of‐way 
purchase for the gap at the southern end of Boone Street. It may not be necessary to include 
sidewalk on all segments of this route, however, as traffic volumes are low. Other traffic calming 
treatments may prove sufficient for pedestrian safety in certain areas. The City could consider 
phasing the installation of segments of the Grand Loop over a number of years to seek STBGP set‐
aside funding from KDOT. 

Recommendations 
In
fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 



 

Lecompton   107 

Figure 5.5: Lecompton Grand Loop 

DISCLAIMER NOTICE 

The map is provided “as is” without warranty or any representation of accuracy, timeliness 
or completeness.  The burden for determining accuracy, completeness, timeliness, mer‐
chantability and fitness for or the appropriateness for use rests solely on the requester.  
The City of Lawrence makes no warranties, express or implied, as to the use of the map.  
There are no implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.  The 
requester acknowledges and accepts the limitations of the map, including the fact that the 
map is dynamic and is in a constant state of maintenance, correction and update. 



 

108  Regional Pedestrian Plan 

Image 5.1: In‐street 
crossing sign 

Image 5.2: Pedestrian crossing 
flags for added visibility 

 

School Crossing 
Improvements 

Primary Focus Areas Addressed: Safety, Connectivity 

The neighborhood on the West side of Whitfield St. is home to children who attend Lecompton 
Elementary. To improve safety crossing Whitfield St, the City could consider an in‐street crossing 
sign (Image 5.1), a crossing flag system as used in Evanston, IL (Image 5.2), or crossing signs with 
flashing lights to alert motorists. 

Recommendations 
In
fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 



 

Lecompton   109 

Figure 5.5: School Crossing Improvement Proposed Location  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Conclusion 
The recommendations in this document aim to focus investment in 
pedestrian infrastructure so that the network is less fragmented. 
These recommendations are not mutually exclusive and can be 
implemented incrementally as funding becomes available. City 
officials should consider using tools found in the Pedestrian Progress 
Toolbox section on pages 14—19 to achieve one or more of these 
recommendations.  

This Pedestrian Plan is an important document because it enables 
city staff to make consistent decisions to improve the pedestrian 
environment. It sets the stage for policy discussion regarding 
sidewalk requirements, helps protect streets with developed 
pedestrian infrastructure, and prioritizes streets with 
underdeveloped pedestrian infrastructure for upgrades. This Plan 
will be incorporated into the regional long‐range transportation 
plan, T2040, during the update in 2017. 

While funding is limited, yearly improvements help improve the 
system by bringing existing facilities into compliance with current 
standards, and providing programming, education, and policy 
changes that can lead to more people choosing to walk. The 
ultimate goal is to have a complete citywide system of quality 
pedestrian infrastructure paired with policies and programs that 
encourage more people to walk. Measured progress towards this 
will continue to support overall walkability and economic 
development opportunities throughout  Lecompton. 



 1 

RESOLUTION 2016-21 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF BALDWIN CITY, KANSAS, ADOPTING THE 
REGIONAL PEDESTRIAN PLAN 
 
 
WHEREAS, the Regional Pedestrian Plan, developed by the Lawrence-Douglas County 
Metropolitan Planning Organization, represents a vision of a more accessible and safer 
pedestrian environment in the region. 
 
WHEREAS, through a public participation process that included surveys, mobile meetings, and 
website feedback, residents of Baldwin City expressed a desire for a pedestrian friendly 
community. The City of Baldwin City should encourage people of all ages and abilities to walk 
for enjoyment, exercise, and daily transportation by providing a safe, convenient, and attractive 
pedestrian environment. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Commission of the City of Baldwin City, 
Kansas, that the Regional Pedestrian Plan is hereby approved, and the same is hereby, adopted. 
A true copy of the Regional Pedestrian Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit A and is found online at 
www.lawrenceks.org/mpo/pedplan and made a part hereof for all purposes, the same as if fully 
copied herein.   
 
Resolution 2016-21 shall take effect December 5, 2016 and it accordingly so resolved. 
 
DULY PASSED by the Governing Body of the City of Baldwin City on this 5th day of December 
November, 2016. 
 
   
 
           __________________________ 
                              Marilyn Pearse, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 ATTEST:       ________________________________ 
         Laura E. Hartman, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
      
 






























































	Agenda 12.5.2016
	B. 1. Minutes 11.21.2016
	B. 2. Douglas County Corrections Facility Agreement
	E. 1. Ordinance No. 1357, amending Ordinance 1247
	E. 2. Ordinance No. 1356 - Time of meeting
	E. 3. 1.Temp Notes Recommendations 2017-A - Springsted
	E. 3. 2. RESOLUTION NO. 2016-22
	E. 3. 3. Salesdoc with Resolution 2016-22
	F. 1. Baldwin City - Regional Pedestrian Plan Memo
	F. 1. Baldwin City Pedestrian Plan - Baldwin City Section
	F. 1. Regional Pedestrian Plan-Complete Version
	RPP_PartII_Lawrence
	RPP_PartIII_Eudora
	RPP_PartIV_BaldwinCity
	RPP_PartV_Lecompton

	F. 1. Resolution 2016-21, Regional Pedestrian Plan
	H. 1. Council Summary Report_NovYTD
	H. 1. VendorActivityRpt 11.08.16-12.05.16



